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KIA ORA  
WELCOME  
TO NORTHTEC

He mihi tēnei nā te Kaumātua

E ngā mana, e ngā reo, e ngā kārangaranga tāngata tēnā koutou katoa 
kua huri kanohi mai ki tō tātou kuratini ki Te Tai Tokerau Wānanga. Ki 
a koutou katoa e tirihia nei i tēnei pukapuka, ko te reo maioha tēnei e 
tangi atu nei, tēnā koutou katoa.

Ka huri atu ki te hunga kua wehe atu ki te pō. Kāti rā ki a koutou e kui 
mā e kara mā, takoto mai koutou i te moenga o te hunga e kore e hoki 
whakamuri mai. Takoto mai, takoto mai, takoto mai rā.

Āpiti hono, tātai hono, ko rātou te hunga mate ki a rātou; āpiti hono 
tātai hono, ko tātou te hunga ora ki a tātou. Tēnā koutou, tēnā koutou, 
tēnā koutou katoa.

As the Kaumātua here at our place of learning, it is both my honour and 
great pleasure to join with the Chief Executive/Te Ahurei, Mark Ewen, 
and Council Chair, Wayne Jackson, to express my greetings, salutations 
and a warm-hearted welcome to this storehouse of knowledge, Tai 
Tokerau Wānanga, NorthTec. Welcome once, twice, three times 
welcome.

Te Tai Tokerau Wānanga, NorthTec, is a ‘mover and shaker’ helping to 
shape the future of Te Tai Tokerau and its communities. I am very proud 
to be a part of it and I hope you will be too. 

Kia ora tātou katoa.

Nā Hohepa Rudolph, Kaumātua 
Te Tai Tokerau Wānanga, NorthTec
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Left to right: Eru Lyndon, Kate Cherrington, Wayne Jackson (Chair), Jane Hindle (Deputy Chair),  
Ken Eastwood, Murray Bain
Absent: Karleen Everitt, Bronwyn Yates

OUR 2018  
COUNCIL
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OUR ROLE IN 
TE TAI TOKERAU

NorthTec – Tai Tokerau Wānanga – is 
the only Institute of Technology and 
Polytechnic (ITP) and the largest 
tertiary education provider in Te 
Tai Tokerau/Northland, delivering 
certificate, diploma, graduate diploma 
and degree level programmes. Since 
1978, NorthTec has provided practical, 
quality education to Te Tai Tokerau 
communities. 

In 2018, NorthTec delivered education from campuses and centres in 
Whangārei, Dargaville, Kaikohe and Kaitaia, as well as teaching off-
campus at community-based sites. We offered a total of 114 programmes 
of study.

Te Tai Tokerau is New Zealand’s least urbanised region with around 
179,000 residents spread across approximately 13,800 square 
kilometres, and only half of the population living in urban environments. 
The region has a large Māori population, with around 33 per cent of 
the population identifying as Māori. Improvement of Māori learner 
achievement, and increased Māori participation at diploma and degree 
level study, are important issues for NorthTec.  

Northland has the highest rate of young people not in employment, 
education or training (NEET) in New Zealand. The latest figures (2017) 
show that close to 20 per cent (3,200) of Northland youth between the 
ages of 15 and 24 were NEET in Northland. For those aged between 20 
and 24, the proportion was higher at 27 per cent. This is a challenge for 
NorthTec and we are working with secondary schools in the region to 
increase the number of school leavers going on to tertiary education, 
especially at Level 4 and above.

During 2018 we worked at both strategic and operational levels to 
increase the number of school leavers choosing to study at NorthTec. 
We developed a high school strategy to increase our engagement with 
schools, and implemented a team of ‘School Connectors’ with links to 
each secondary school in our region.

The total number of students enrolled at NorthTec in 2018 was 
7,273, corresponding to 2,892 Equivalent Full Time Students (EFTS).  
International students made up 12 per cent of our total student number, 
with 897 students across our Whangārei and Auckland campuses.

NorthTec’s vision is “Better lives through education”, and our mission is 
to grow the economic, environmental, cultural and social prosperity of Te 
Tai Tokerau Northland through education.

NorthTec continues to engage well with a broad range of community, 
industry and iwi/hapū stakeholders at all levels of the organisation, 
from individual tutors and support staff through to senior managers and 
Council members. 

KAITAIA

KERIKERI

KAIKOHE

WHANGĀREI

AUCKLAND

DARGAVILLE
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MESSAGE FROM 
COUNCIL CHAIR
Ko Ruarangi te maunga 
Ko Raumanga te awa 
Ko te Tai Tokerau Wānanga te marae 
Ko Te Puna ō Te Mātauranga te whare 
Ko Ngāpuhi Nui-Tonu te iwi 
Tihei wā Mauriora

The 2018 financial year was a challenging year not just for NorthTec 
but for a number of polytechnics throughout the country. NorthTec has 
sufficient financial reserves to enable us to manage our current position, 
however we signalled to Government that our long-term viability is at 
risk unless there are major changes to the funding system and the way in 
which we are required to operate.

Our mission is to deliver Better Lives Through Education to our region and 
to ensure that we do the very best for our ākonga (learners) in terms of 
giving them the skills required to enter the workplace, advance in their 
career or progress onto further education. We are pleased to announce 
that we achieved an overall success of 80% for Course Completions.  
Based on the latest Cohort Qualification Completions we are also ranked 
second of all NZ polytechnics.

We have also been verbally acknowledged by the Tertiary Education 
Commission (TEC) as being fiscally responsible and by national 
benchmarking group Tribal as being financially prudent.

Tertiary Regional Investment Plan 
A highlight of the year was the development of the first ever Tertiary 
Regional Investment Plan (TRIP). This was a fundamentally different 
approach to the siloed way in which the TEC manages funding for 
providers. The plan considers the region as a whole and looks at what 
industry, local government, iwi and hapū, industry training organisations, 
private training providers and communities are seeking in terms of their 
overall vocational training needs. The first stage “He Whenua” looks at 
primary and land-based industries and environment. 

The TEC Board of Commissioners has approved the creation of an internal 
(TEC) implementation group to partner with the TRIP Advisory Group and 
region. This is good progress and it is great for our region that it has the 
necessary support at high levels in Wellington. However the real test is 
ahead in the implementation of its recommended actions. In this respect 
the TRIP has a list of associated actions, and we will be looking to drive 
the implementation of these with support from TEC.

Council Chair Wayne Jackson and Chief Executive Mark Ewen
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Kerikeri – A model of collaboration 
The relaunch of our Kerikeri campus supports our strengthening 
relationships with iwi and business in the community. The partnership 
between NorthTec Tai Tokerau Wānanga and local hapū, Ngāti Rēhia, 
began around 30 years ago. Ngāti Rēhia will be co-located at the 
Kerikeri campus which will allow both parties to work together to 
deliver better lives for Te Tai Tokerau through education. A lease has 
also been agreed with Heritage New Zealand. 

NorthTec’s focus for Kerikeri for 2019 is on health and wellbeing, with 
foundation programmes being offered in both the nursing and social 
work pathways.

Farewells 
In April Warren Moyes, a government-appointed Council member 
for nine years, resigned. His role as Chair of Northpower provided 
a strong link with industry and a depth of knowledge on health and 
safety and as Chair of Northland Inc, Warren provided a valuable link 
to Northland’s business community. I would like to thank him for his 
commitment to NorthTec.

Murray Bain was appointed to the Council by the Minister. He is a 
cross-council appointee as Chair of the Open Polytechnic of New 
Zealand. Murray brings a wealth of experience as a company director 
with a history of working for various government organisations.

At the end of the year, in consultation with family and in their best 
interests, Mark Ewen signalled his intention to move on. During his 10 
years at NorthTec, the last two as CE, Mark spearheaded significant 
change in terms of academic quality and a new structure to support 
this. His commitment throughout his tenure to the organisation has 
been outstanding, and we thank him very much for his efforts.

As this is a difficult time for the sector and with the Council wanting 
stability of management and direction as NorthTec works through the 
Reform, I was asked to stand in as interim CE to manage the transition. 

The Future 
In 2019 the Government will announce the Reform of Vocational 
Education.  We believe this will be a game-changer for our sector and 
we look forward to working with Government to continue to ensure the 
best vocational education outcomes for Te Tai Tokerau.   

I wish to acknowledge the continued commitment of our staff. The 
last two years have been unsettling for many as we have refocussed 
NorthTec on delivering high-value education in a challenging financial 
environment to better ensure a sustainable future. Thank you for your 
ongoing hard work to support our ākonga to truly stay close and go far.  

In closing, I would also like to thank the other members of Council for 
their efforts over the past 12 months. We have a strong and capable 
team who bring diversity of thought, skills and ideas with half our 
Council being Māori and half our Council being female. They have total 
commitment to the future of our organisation and Te Tai Tokerau. 

No reira tēnā koutou, tēnā koutou, tēnā tātou katoa.

M
ES

SA
G

E 
FR

O
M

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

 C
H

A
IR

 

Wayne Jackson   Council Chair

Signing the partnership agreement for Kerikeri campus, from left, Te Rūnanga o Ngāti Rehia chairman Kipa Munro and trustee Nora Rameka, 
NorthTec chief executive Mark Ewen and NorthTec Council deputy chair Jane Hindle. (Photo credit: Northern Advocate)
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OUR 2018  
SENIOR  

LEADERSHIP TEAM
Dr. Mark Ewen
Chief Executive

Hohepa Rudolph 
Kaumātua

Phil Alexander Crawford                               
Director Development

John Langley
Director Outcomes (1 January - 27 April)

Darrell Lambert
Director Māori (1st January - 29 April) 

Acting Director Outcomes (30 April - 31 December)

Will Workman
Director International

Jonathan Slavich
Chief Financial Officer (8 October - 31 December)

Kristin Rewha-Langdon
Director Corporate Solutions (1 October - 31 December)
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2018 
AT A GLANCE

A summary of financial and  
non-financial key measures



SUMMARY OF 
FINANCIAL  
INFORMATION

SURPLUS/ (Deficit) 

($3.77m)
WORKING  
CAPITAL

$5.27m

TOTAL EQUITY

$46.03m

12

TOTAL REVENUE

$36.97m
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SUMMARY OF 
NON-FINANCIAL  

INFORMATION

STUDENT ETHNICITY
MĀORI PASIFIKA

MoE-funded EFTS  
- all students 

52%

MoE-funded EFTS  
- all students 

7%
Headcount  

- all students 

36%

Headcount  
- all students 

5%

STUDENT GENDER

38% Female 62% Male

7,273
STUDENTS 
ENROLLED 
(Headcount)

Formal programmes of study 
that lead to a qualification

EFTS by Programme Level 
for all MoE-funded students

Level 1 - 2 178 

Level 3 - 4 1,118 

Level 5 - 6 256 

Level 7 390 
 

Under 17 
years 7.7%

17 - 19 
years 15.6%

20 - 24 
years 17.6%

33%25 + 
years 59.2%

Students by  
AGE GROUP

MoE-Funded EFTS

2,007

114

NUMBER OF 
PROGRAMMES OF 

STUDY

80%

COURSE  
SUCCESS RATE 

(all students)

Headcount  
(all students)  

897

% of Headcount  
(all students) 

12%

INTERNATIONAL

2,892 TOTAL EFTS 
(ALL STUDENTS)
EFTS = EQUIVALENT FULL-TIME STUDENT
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OCCUPATIONAL 
HEALTH AND 
SAFETY
NorthTec is committed to the health and safety of our staff, students and 
the visitors to our campuses. We have comprehensive arrangements to 
ensure that NorthTec is meeting the requirements of the 2015 Health and 
Safety at Work Act to do all that is reasonably practicable to safeguard the 
health and safety of those working and learning at NorthTec.

At the close of 2018 the revised NorthTec Health and Safety Policy was 
released. This document provides clearer direction to all NorthTec stake 
holders on their responsibilities. In line with this, the Health and Safety 
team have worked to simplify processes and improve the accessibility 
of key documents and resources by refinements to the Health & Safety 
portal pages.

Work continues on reinforcing good practice in a forward direction, and 
has included external consultation where necessary. During 2018 external 
experts were utilised to refine  arrangements regarding chemical safety 
at the Raumanga Science Laboratory, and machine guarding at the Dyer 
Street Engineering Workshops. In addition, internal reviews of some of the 

higher risk training at Dyer Street were conducted, thus ensuring that the 
best practices of industry are being pursued. This work of improving safety 
in training delivery will continue in 2019 with a focus on the higher risk 
training being undertaken off  campus.

In addition to the above initiatives, the three year health and safety plan 
includes:
• Examination of the safety provisions of student work placements 
• The utilisation of video for staff  induction and instruction
• A review of NorthTec’s crisis management capabilities
• And an examination of affordable E- technologies for H&S 

management. 

With the Government’s planned changes to tertiary training delivery it is 
likely that some staff  will experience uncertainty and stress. The Health 
& Safety team is working with the Senior Leadership team to develop a 
wellbeing programme and a plan to support staff  to manage change.
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2018 
STUDENT SURVEYS

NorthTec uses formal and informal methods to obtain feedback from current students, graduates, key employers and industry partners. In 2018, SIL 
Research continued to facilitate these surveys to provide an overview of how well NorthTec is meeting the needs of our stakeholders. During 2018, a total 
of 2,869 people engaged with the NorthTec surveys.  

Students, graduates and employers were somewhat to very satisfied with NorthTec (using a 1-5 scale with 5 being the upper score). 

The 2018 Net Promotor Score for all students was a positive 29 per cent (Good, +2 v 2017), meaning that students were more likely to recommend 
NorthTec. The 2018 Net Promotor Score for graduates was a very high positive 41.9 per cent (Good, +2 v 2017) indicating that graduates are very likely 
to recommend NorthTec as a place to study or upskill.

Footnote 
SIL Research is a full service research company and is obliged to comply with the Research Association of  
New Zealand (RANZ) code of practice. Based on global Net Promotor Score (NPS) standards, any score  
above 0 would be considered “good.” +50 is “excellent,” and above 70 is considered “world class.” 

Scale: 1 = Very dissatisfied, 2 = Somewhat dissatisfied, 3 = Neither dissatisfied or satisfied, 4 = Somewhat satisfied, 5 = Very satisfied  

4.50/5.00
On average across all 

NorthTec tutor evaluation 
statements

4.70/5.00
NorthTec 

programmes are well 
designed

4.71/5.00
NorthTec tutors 
support student 

learning

4.70/5.00 NorthTec is 
student-focused

NorthTec is a good place to study4.69/5.00

4.69/5.00
NorthTec is responsive to my 

learning needs
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2018 
HIGHLIGHTS

Ngāpuhi Festival

NorthTec was proud to support the Ngāpuhi Festival by providing 
transport, sponsorship of the “Youth B.A.E.” interactive space for young 
people aged 11 to 17, and a stand promoting NorthTec programmes 
to visitors. Staff were on hand to discuss enrolment with prospective 
students and to outline the new fees-free programme, which started in 
2018.

Nursing showcase promotes shared knowledge in Northland

Around 35 nurses from Te Tai Tokerau region came together at NorthTec’s 
Raumanga campus to find out about new research carried out by the 
nursing department and other nurses in Northland. Presentations covered 
topics such as emotional intelligence and the implications for education 
of student nurses, work-readiness of NorthTec nursing graduates, the 
experiences of internationally qualified nurses transitioning into practice 
as New Zealand Registered Nurses, and nursing and Māori health 
disparity. The day ended with a presentation on strategies to facilitate the 
employment of Māori new graduates. 

First writing hui is a success

NorthTec’s applied writing programme hosted its inaugural hui, bringing 
together online students from around the country and giving them the 
chance to meet their tutors and each other in person. Top billing went to 
speakers Janice Marriott, 2018 recipient of the Margaret Mahy Medal, 
and award winning novelist, Whiti Hereaka. The two-day event included 
additional speakers, playwright and scriptwriter Kathryn Burnett, literary 
agent Vicki Marsdon and One Tree House publishers. 

Māori Arts students win sculpture awards

Two NorthTec Maunga Kura Toi (Bachelor of Māori Arts) students won 
two out of three awards at the Whāngarei Sculpture Symposium. Graham 
Nathan and Anthony Dunn won the $4000 Te Au Marie “Journeys” Award, 
and the $1000 Quest Whāngarei People’s Choice Award for their work, 
three one-metre high limestone sculptures forming a triptych called 
He Tangata, He Tangata, He Tangata. Their sculpture will be installed at 
Kerikeri Airport in 2019.

Research focuses on new graduate registered nurse skills

A collaborative research project between NorthTec and the Northland 
District Health Board found that the majority of new graduate registered 
nurses entered the workforce as safe, competent practitioners who were 
also well equipped with general skills such as communication. The project 
looked at perceptions of the cognitive, technical and non-technical skill 
sets of newly registered nurse graduates. The study’s findings will be 
used to further inform and develop the undergraduate nurse education 
curriculum at NorthTec.

Awards for five NorthTec students

Five NorthTec students who gained Kate Edger Charitable Trust Awards 
in 2017 were acknowledged in a ceremony at the University of Auckland. 
The NorthTec recipients ranged across several categories, with each 
receiving funding towards some aspect of re-training. The winning 
students came from the nursing, construction, applied management, and 
social and community services pathways.

Working with Sport Northland and Creative Northland

NorthTec entered into formal agreements with both Sport Northland 
and Creative Northland, aimed at boosting the wellness and arts sectors 
in the region. The key objectives of the Statement of Shared Objectives 
(SoSo) with Sport Northland include developing new local learners of 
sport and recreation and health and well-being, while improving quality 
employment opportunities within Te Tai Tokerau’s sporting industries. 
The SoSo signed by NorthTec and Creative Northland aims to improve 
educational pathways into the creative sector for youth, increase relevant 
work placements and strengthen relationships with the region’s creative 
industries. 

Kerikeri Campus is relaunched

NorthTec announced the relaunch of its Kerikeri campus after the site was 
temporarily rested in 2018. The relaunch was the result of a partnership 
developed between NorthTec Tai Tokerau Wānanga and Ngāti Rehia, with 
the campus initially focusing on the delivery of health and wellbeing, 
offering programmes in the nursing and social services pathways. Heritage 
New Zealand’s Northland area office is also based at the campus.
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NorthTec students successful at WorldSkills competition

Three NorthTec apprentice students excelled at the WorldSkills New 
Zealand national competition in Hamilton. Automotive engineering 
students Morgan Lovelace and Scott Pattenden gained silver and 
bronze medals respectively, while welding student, Justin Caldwell-
Smith gained a bronze medal. The competition was an intense 
two-day event in which competitors had to complete a variety of tasks 
demonstrating their technical skills in their fields of study.

NorthTec’s graduating artists join up for exhibition

A joint exhibition entitled Aki was held to showcase the work of 
students graduating from NorthTec’s Bachelor of Applied Arts (Digital 
and Visual) and Maunga Kura Toi (Bachelor of Māori Art) programmes. 
This was the first graduate show held jointly by students of both arts 
degree programmes.

Shared objectives will benefit students and industry

NorthTec and the regional economic development agency, Northland 
Inc, signed a bilateral agreement to work on a Northland School of 
Business, and Talent Management Office supporting work experience 
and employment outcomes. The agreement centres on opportunities 
for Northland Inc and NorthTec to work together to improve 
education, business capability and employment opportunities across 
Northland, while strengthening relationships with industry, Māori 
and other key stakeholders. NorthTec also signed a SoSo with the 
Northland Chamber of Commerce, with a view to driving collaborative 
processes for the benefit of students and industries across the 
region. The partnership will support work experience for students and 
employment outcomes for graduates. 

Awards for conservation graduates

Two graduates from NorthTec’s conservation programme received 
awards in the 2018 Queen’s Birthday Honours. Samara Nicholas, 
who graduated in 2002, received the New Zealand Order of Merit for 
Service to Marine Conservation and Education. Samara is a marine 
scientist who established the Mountains to Sea Conservation Trust, 
which educates young people about conservation. Lyn Wade, a 
graduate from 2014, was awarded the Queen’s Service Medal for 
Services to Conservation for her voluntary work on Little Barrier Island 
(Hauturu-o-Toi).

Great ratings for NorthTec from national graduate survey

A TEC online graduate satisfaction survey showed positive results for 
NorthTec. NorthTec’s overall satisfaction rate of 95 per cent was 2 per 
cent higher than the overall tertiary sector results. A total of 89 per 
cent of graduates stated that they would recommend their NorthTec 
qualifications to others, which was 6 per cent higher than the result 
for the tertiary sector as a whole.

NorthTec wedding is a match made in hospitality

NorthTec’s Apprentice Restaurant hosted the wedding of two of 
NorthTec’s own hospitality graduates, Alex Holt and Claire Zhang. 
The happy couple met as classmates studying cookery at NorthTec, 
both graduating from the Diploma of Cookery programme in 2017. 
International student, Claire, and her new husband went on to open a 
catering business in Whangārei together.

Creative Northland signing boosts the arts
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Statement of
SERVICE 

PERFORMANCE



VISION TIROHANGA
Better lives through education

GOALS WHĀINGA
 5 Measurably great ākonga outcomes

 5 Clear commitment to Te Tiriti o Waitangi

 5 High quality, supported and accountable staff

 5 Future focused programmes

 5 Equitable access for all learners

 5 Strong partnerships with our stakeholders

 5 Robust financial management

 5 Effective and respected systems and processes

 5 Valued communication

WHAKAEA
Ambition

We create and role model ambition and 
leadership

HIRANGA
Excellence

We take pride in everything we do 

AROTAHI
Focus

We put the success of our ākonga and our 
team at the centre of all we do

TUTIKA
Accountability

We each take personal responsibility for 
achieving our purpose 

VALUES UARA

PURPOSE KAUPAPA
We exist so that the economic, environmental, 
cultural and social prosperity of Te Tai Tokerau 
Northland grows through education.

THE NORTHTEC 
STRATEGY
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Tertiary 
Education 

Commission 
Priorities

Priority 1: 
Delivering skills 

for industry

Priority 2: 
Getting at-risk 
young people 
into a career

Priority 6: 
Growing 

international 
linkages

Priority 5: 
Strengthening research-

based institutions

Priority 4: 
Improving adult 

literacy and 
numeracy

Priority 3: 
Boosting 

achievement of 
Māori and 

Pasifika

TERTIARY EDUCATION COMMISSION 
PRIORITIES
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STATEMENT OF 
SERVICE  
PERFORMANCE
Student participation 
In 2018, we delivered training and education to 7,273 students. Of 
these, 6,376 were domestic students including 155 Youth Guarantee, 
349 Adult Community Education, 175 Industry Training Organisation and 
771 STAR and Trades Academy, as well as 897 international students. 
This equates to 2,892 EFTS – 2,340 domestic and 552 international – 
located throughout Te Tai Tokerau and Auckland.  

The continuous focus on improving outcomes for all students is 
informed by increasingly robust data and information in an organisation 
with effective teaching and learning, solid educational performance 
indicators, and good evidence of valued outcomes for graduates. 

Overall, learners at NorthTec achieve well. This reflects NorthTec’s 
commitment to “Better Lives through Education” with a focus on 
successful outcomes for students at all levels. Course completions for 
all students remain strong at 80 per cent, with completion rates varying 
across the organisation with excellent outcomes in some programmes, 
favourable trends in others, and others identifying ways to improve with 
some early indications of success.  

For Student Achievement Component (SAC)-funded students, successful 
course completions remained at 75 per cent overall in 2018. 

Course completions
 Draft Target Actual
SAC students 2018 2018 2017

 
Levels 1-2 78.27% N/A 82.60%

 
Level 3 and above 74.34% 80% 77.40%

 
Level 4 and above 82.28% 81% 80.70%

Qualification completions 
Using previous TEC qualification completion methodology overall, 55 
per cent of learners successfully complete qualifications. This is below 
target and 12 per cent lower than 2017. However when applying TEC’s 
latest cohort methodology and results for successful qualification 
completions, NorthTec is the second highest performing ITP in the 
country for Qualification completions at 64 per cent. NorthTec students 
achieve well over time.    

Qualification completions
 Draft Target Actual
SAC students 2018 2018 2017

Levels 1-2 89.62% N/A 93.04%
 

Level 3 and above 53.32% 70% 69.13%
 

Level 4 and above 54.14% 70% 78.96%

SAC-funded students performed well with students at Levels 1 and 2 
exceeding 2017 targets. This can be attributed to a review of Level 
2 programmes exited and offered, to better meet the needs of our 
stakeholders. Qualification completion at Levels 3 and 4 is a focus area 
of improvement in 2019. 

N/A: Not an Investment Plan requirement in 2018

For the 2018 annual report NorthTec has used the EFTS-based computation rather than the cohorts-based computation to disclose the figures for the qualification completion 
and progression measures.
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Retention
 Draft Target Actual
SAC students 2018 2018 2017

Levels 1-2 72.12% N/A 64.59%

Level 3 and above 75.09% 73% 71.50%

Progression
 Draft Target Actual
SAC students 2018 2018 2017

Levels 1-4  31.42% 41% 27.00% 
to a higher level

Retention at Levels 3 and above is strong and above target at 75 per 
cent. Progression rates remain below target but show improvement 
when compared to 2017. NorthTec has identified this as an area for 
improvement, particularly in lifting the expectations of students to 
achieve higher-level qualifications in Te Tai Tokerau. 

We have better understanding of the consistency of our educational 
performance across our programme areas, year-on-year and by 
location. There has been a clear emphasis on evidence-based actions 
and improvements using accurate and timely data. Individual student 
achievement is well understood and monitored. 

This has been backed up by our central support services, which are 
appreciated by students who value the careful attention to their 
academic needs, to ensure their progress and success. Student 
satisfaction surveys rate many of these services very highly. Staff 
in these areas place a high priority on ensuring students are well 
supported and directed to the right support. 

NorthTec is strongly committed to embedding a culture of self-
assessment and reflection across all programmes, activities and 
campuses. Formal and informal processes review and evaluate the 
value and relevance of the programmes to students, community and 
employers, and verify high levels of satisfaction with the outcomes 
achieved. 
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“I’ve always liked driving and I’ve driven a lot of things but not large 
vehicles. I joined this course to get a Dangerous Goods licence for 
courier driving and now I realise other licences we are receiving are 
opening more options.

“My brother studied architecture here at NorthTec and suggested I 
have a look.

“After passing my class 2 licence, I got to experience driving trucks 
which I really enjoyed and I also received awesome feedback. The 
challenge is to keep telling myself it’s easy.

“As a single mother, it gets a little tricky to juggle family commitments 
as well as studying, as my youngest is two years old. My tutor is 
understanding of my personal life and makes sure I keep on track with 
the course.

“As students, we’re all like a family. We all have the same end goal 
so we help each other to get through completing the course. The 
completion of the course and the certificates I will receive will give 
me a lot more job opportunities than I originally thought. I can explore 
other options such as wheels, tracks and rollers, and also diggers.

“When I finish this course, I will roll over to the next semester to 
upskill myself for more tickets including class 4 and 5. At the moment 
I’m enjoying expanding my possibilities.”

Ameila Rakete  
Commercial Transport
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90% of graduates were satisfied 
with their studies at 
NorthTec

NorthTec produces graduates with relevant capabilities to undertake 
roles in employment and careers within their specific profession or 
industry. At programme level, various strategies are used to maintain 
and enhance relationships with industry and community stakeholders. 
These include involvement in conferences, regular meetings with 
professional bodies, joint research projects, industry experts as guest 
speakers, field trips to broaden perspectives and enhance career 
opportunities, and liaison work to maintain the integrity of clinical 
placements and work placements.

Graduate outcomes are strong, with good progression to higher-level 
qualifications and relevant employment outcomes across NorthTec. 
The value and relevance of qualifications to stakeholders is achieved 
through strong and purposeful industry and community engagement 
to inform programme planning and industry alignments. Programme 
staff are using innovative ways to engage with local employers and 
communities and provide work-based learning to ensure graduates 
have the right skills and capabilities for their chosen industry or 
profession.

Data released from a Tertiary Education Commission (TEC) through 
MyQ online graduate satisfaction tool shows very positive results for 
NorthTec programmes.

82%
of employed students agreed they used 

their acquired skills and knowledge 
gained from their qualification

Footnote 
MyQ (Rate My Qualifications) is a satisfaction tool enabling recent graduates of certificate, diploma or degree programmes to provide feedback on aspects of their 
tertiary experience and qualification.

75%
of employed graduates said their 
employment was related to their 

course of study

95%
OVERALL  

SATISFACTION 
RATING
2% higher  

than the overall  
tertiary sector results

88%
WOULD 

RECOMMEND 
THEIR 

QUALIFICATION 
6% higher  

than the overall  
tertiary sector results
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NorthTec is well connected to industry, community and the region. 
Te Tai Tokerau is a very “local” region and stakeholder engagement 
tends to be based on personal as well as organisational relationships 
at all levels. This has been further enhanced by signed Statements 
of Shared Objectives (SoSo) with Northland Inc, Creative Northland, 
Chamber of Commerce and Sport Northland. These are action 
focused agreements that meet both organisations’ key objectives 
and through partnering we strengthen our ability to achieve the 
desired strategic goals.

NorthTec has led an innovative prototype, the “Tai Tokerau Regional 
Investment Plan” (TRIP), a model for engaging and collaborating 
regional investment planning and delivery that will support 
educational and training outcomes that ensure that Northland’s 
industry and employment needs are met. 

In 2018 NorthTec reduced its commitment to forestry training 
delivering training to 147.28 EFTS from 189 in 2016. NorthTec 
continued to respond to the skills shortage in Northland by 
increasing our commitment to the trades by increasing our delivery in 
carpentry and painting achieving 263.4 EFTS against a target of 223 
for 2018.    

Highly qualified, industry-experienced teaching staff build strong 
learning relationships with their students to support achievement. 
Programmes and qualifications continue to be evaluated to ensure 
they are future-focused and strongly aligned to produce graduates 
who can transition seamlessly into the workplace and meet the 
standards required by industry. Key external stakeholders indicate 
that NorthTec provides high-quality graduates who are work-ready 
with the relevant skills needed for industry.

Industry Training Organisation (ITO)

 Draft Target Actual 

 2018 2018 2017

ITO EFTS 51.02*  422 399.50

Full Cost Recovery

 Draft Target Actual 
 2018 2018 2017

Full Cost Recovery EFTS 162.79 128 141.09

Innovative practices are used in delivery to support holistic and 
culturally appropriate student engagement and authentic learning. 
These have proven successful with students, particularly those 
studying in the regions. This innovative delivery builds the key skills 
and capabilities that align with workplace requirements. 

Students have access to a range of real-world opportunities which 
complement their study, including partnering with staff on research 
projects, entering competitions, supporting community events, 
industry projects, internships and work placements.   

Staff engage students as partners in research projects which provide 
valuable experience to prepare them for the workforce. Community-
based projects are integrated into teaching and learning and this 
is supporting the needs of communities, including painting and 
renovating housing, town beautification and maintenance activities in 
communities of low socioeconomic status. Community organisations 
are constantly looking for ways to be involved in student projects 
and provide practicum and summer jobs so that those trained and 
qualified in Northland remain in the region.  

Students gain a range of professional, technical and work-ready 
skills at the standard required for employment and further study. 
Core skills and capabilities being achieved by students include self-
confidence, time management, and an ability to work in teams with a 
range of complementary skills and abilities such as problem-solving 
and positive attitudes. Students and graduates have been successful 
in winning medals at regional competitions and going forward to 
national competitions, and value the opportunity to showcase their 
technical abilities and work-ready skills.  

Students and stakeholders value the quality of teaching at NorthTec 
and attribute their success to the commitment and dedication 
of staff. The positive learning environment, strong relationships 
between staff and students, high level of industry-specific 
experience and willingness to support students in their studies, 
are key contributing factors which engage students and lead to 
increased interest, enjoyment and success. Teaching staff are highly 
experienced and knowledgeable in their specialist areas with diverse 
and extensive links with industry and research opportunities. 

Students value the positive, responsive and industry-aligned learning 
environment that provides opportunities for students to achieve 
new skills and knowledge. NorthTec has recently implemented a 
range of approaches to gather reliable information and obtain formal 
feedback from stakeholders to inform areas for improvement.

NorthTec regularly reviews its programmes and activities to ensure 
that different stakeholder needs are being met. The NZQA Targeted 
Review of Qualifications at Levels 1-6 has resulted in 45 programmes 
of study being approved for delivery over the past two years. This 
has provided an opportunity for NorthTec to ensure that programmes 
are industry-relevant, use flexible delivery strategies, are student-
centred and use appropriate digital technology.  NorthTec is 
a member of the Tertiary Accord of New Zealand (TANZ) and 
participates in the delivery of programmes through TANZ eCampus.

NorthTec maintains local and national relationships and 
affiliations with a number of professional and industry forums 
that result in positive outcomes for students. NZQA consistency 
reviews undertaken in 2018 demonstrate that NorthTec has met 
requirements, assuring national consistency of graduate outcomes.
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* MITO EFTS processing change (no revenue impact)
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4.71/5.00
Chosen programme is 

relevant to the real world

4.71/5.00
NorthTec has up-to-date 
industry resources and 

equipment

4.23/5.00
I have been suitably 
prepared for work  
(I am work ready)

4.60/5.00
Tests and assessments are 
well designed and linked to 

real work

4.33/5.00
NorthTec’s training 
programme developed  
my skills and knowledge in 
relation to my job
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85% The students’ knowledge, skills 
and attitudes reflect those I 
expect from a student with a 
qualification in this field.

2018 NorthTec Employer Satisfaction Survey
2018 NorthTec Satisfaction Survey and the 2017/2018 Student Outcome Survey (Sliding Scale 1-5)
NorthTec Graduate Outcome Survey 2017 (Sliding Scale 1-5)
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For most young people, achieving a tertiary qualification is a crucial 
milestone towards a successful working career. Northland presents 
a challenging landscape, with the highest rate of young people not 
in employment, education or training (NEET) rate in New Zealand. 
Latest figures show that close to 20 per cent (3,200) of Northland 
youth between the ages of 15 and 24 were NEET in Northland. For 
those aged between 20 and 24, the proportion was higher at 30 per 
cent.  

Around half of Northland school leavers are not in tertiary study the 
year after leaving school, and those going into tertiary study are more 
likely to study at low levels. Currently the proportion of young people 
staying in school to at least 17, and the proportion of those achieving 
NCEA Level 2 or equivalent, are 4 per cent lower in Northland than 
national levels.   

As many jobs in Northland are in rural areas with very limited 
access to public transport, driver licensing is critical for people to 
get to work, yet many people do not have a valid licence. Demand 
for unqualified labour (those with no post-school qualifications), 
especially in the primary sector in New Zealand, is forecast to 
decline. 

The challenge in meeting the needs of our at risk youth was further 
impacted by some Level 2 and 3 programmes having to be cancelled 
due to low enrolment numbers earlier in 2018. 

Participation under 25
  Draft Target Actual 

SAC students   2018 2018 2017

Level 3 and above  33.29% 29% 36.04%

Level 4 and above  34.62% 21% 38.07%

Course completions under 25
 Draft Target Actual 

SAC students 2018 2018 2017

Level 3 and above 73.35% 79% 74.00%

Level 4 and above 82.55% 79% 79.60%

Qualification completions under 25
 Draft Target Actual 

SAC students 2018 2018 2017

Level 3 and above 53.26% 65% 53.79%

Level 4 and above 57.07% 66% 59.38%

Youth Guarantee
 Draft Target Actual 

SAC students 2018 2018 2017

Youth Guarantee EFTS 95.52 80 138.43

PRIORITY 2
Getting at-risk young people into a career

All students under 25 years SAC students under 25 years

All students 40% (Headcount: 2,883)

Successful 
course 

completion 79%  (4% decrease  
on 2017)

Successful 
qualification 

completion 56%  (1% decrease  
on 2017)

SAC students 30% (Headcount: 974)

Successful 
course 

completion 73%  (1% increase  
on 2017)

Successful 
qualification 

completion 56%  (2% increase  
on 2017)



30

STAR and Trades Academy (TA)

 Draft Actual 

 2018 2017

STAR and TA EFTS 116.37 140.91

Tai Tokerau STAR and Trades Academy programmes continued 

to support students to study free for a year at several secondary 

schools and NorthTec simultaneously, working towards nationally 

transferable qualifications in areas such as automotive and 

engineering, electronics, horticulture, hospitality and the arts. In 

2018, 771 students participated in STAR and taster courses.  

Ngawha Corrections students played an important role in community 

projects. As well as gaining valuable technical skills and capabilities, 

the students felt a strong sense of pride and were able to see the 

value of gaining formal qualification, with 81 per cent of students 

aged under 25 in Ngawha successfully completing courses at Levels 

2 to 4.  

The aPlus+ plugin “Revive” was piloted at NorthTec in semester 2, 

2017, and implemented across the institution in 2018. The primary 

purpose for “Revive” is to provide early warning of learners who 

are at risk of not successfully completing their current course of 

study.  Revive allows us to record and track our efforts to try to retain 

students at risk through quick identification and internal notifications 

of support interventions.

A strong culture of collaboration between the support services and, 

with ākonga (learners) tutors and services across the organisation, 

to support ākonga (learner) achievement, is embedded in the newly 

transformed centralised ākonga support services.  Ākonga speak 

highly of the exemplary manaaki (compassion and care) provided by 

Academic support and Library support and resources. 

Highly skilled staff who are strongly ākonga-centred in their practice 

are providing quality support to learners and tutors to encourage 

class attendance, complete assessments and assignments, address 

social barriers, support our youth, navigate institution systems and 

processes (internal and external), feel well, healthy and safe, and to 

receive timely support that is respectful and accurate.

In 2018, this support team provided 1,542 support sessions, nurses 

provided 2,617 consultations and Vitae provided 193 counselling 

sessions to ākonga throughout Te Tai Tokerau- Kaitaia, Kaikohe, 

Dargaville and Whangārei and Tamaki Makau-rau- Auckland. Ākonga 

aged between 16 -25 were the highest users in 2018.
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4.68/5.00
NorthTec provides services that 

are relevant to my needs 

4.66/5.00
NorthTec provides services that 
are available when I need them
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“I had a few interactions with the health profession as a young mother 
of two. Some of those were positive and some were negative, but there 
was one nurse who was really supportive to me at a time that mattered, 
and that had a lot of impact on me. I knew then that I wanted to help 
people when they felt vulnerable.

“The more I see and learn, the more I realise that there are a lot of 
different realities and health disparities. Health is holistic and includes 
whānau, physical, mental, social, spiritual, financial and community 
aspects. It’s very validating that our course covers and explores all of 
these.

“Even though we’re off campus a lot, we stay connected as students. 
We’re a diverse group and we’re all doing our training for different 
reasons. The tutors go above and beyond to see that we achieve our 
goals. They check in on us and are available 24/7 if needed.

“By getting my nursing degree I’ll be able to give back to my whānau, 
hapū and iwi.  I’m one of 11 siblings and I’ll be the first one to get a 
degree. It’s making my whānau proud and it is also self-rewarding. My 
whānau is my motivation.

“When I complete my degree, I want to get as much experience in 
as many areas of nursing as I can. My dream is then to be a nurse 
practitioner and go back to my Turangawaewae in the Hokianga and 
work with my whānau. I belong to the hapū of Te Hikutu, I’m of Ngāpuhi 
descent and I’m a proud Māori nurse. I’m starting to see and be part of 
the change movement in nursing.”

Tiechar Hill 
Bachelor of Nursing
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PRIORITY 3
Boosting achievement of Māori and Pasifika 

Participation 

SAC-funded Māori and Pasifika students continued to exceed 
participation targets. Participation rates for Māori were significantly 
higher than the 33 per cent Māori population of Northland. For Levels 
1 and 2 Māori participation increased by 3 per cent from 61 per cent 
to 64 per cent.  At Level 3 and above Māori participation decreased 
by 3 per cent from 55 per cent to 52 per cent against a target of 44 
per cent.

Māori Participation  Draft Target Actual 
   2018 2018 2017

Levels 1-2   63.61% N/A 61.17%

Level 3 and above  52.46% 44% 55.28%

Level 4 and above   48.82% 30% 48.17%

Pasifika Participation  Draft Target Actual 
   2018 2018 2017

Levels 1-2   7.50% N/A 6.91%

Level 3 and above  6.68% 3% 7.59%

Level 4 and above   6.65% 3% 7.34%

Course completions

All students

In 2018, 72 per cent of Māori successfully completed courses, a 
decrease of 3 per cent on 2017. The achievement gap between 
all funded Māori and non Māori successful course completions is 
11 per cent, with 83 per cent of all funded non Māori successfully 
completing courses. 

In 2018, 75 per cent of Pasifika successfully completed courses, a 
decrease of 6 per cent on 2017.

SAC students

Māori  Draft Target Actual 

   2018 2018 2017

Level 3 and above  71.20% 79% 74.40%

Level 4 and above  79.73% 79% 77.50%

Pasifika  Draft Target Actual 

   2018 2018 2017

Level 3 and above  74.73% 79% 80.20%

Level 4 and above  78.85% 79% 83.70%

In 2018, 72 per cent of SAC funded Māori learners successfully 
completed courses, a decrease of 3 per cent on 2017. The 
achievement gap between Māori and non Māori SAC funded learners 
completing courses successfully is 6 per cent. This gap continues to 
close when compared to the previous 2 years. 

At Levels 3 and above this has led to Māori achieving parity when 

compared to all students.

Māori are a significant part of the Northland economy, accounting for 33 per cent of the population and 26 per cent of the labour force. Students 
on a number of programmes had the opportunity to learn and apply work skills in realistic work environments while providing real benefit to 
communities.

Improving Māori achievement, success and further strengthening relationships with iwi, community and business in the region, at all levels of the 
organisation, remains a priority for NorthTec. Providing social and cultural value to whānau, hapū and iwi within Te Tai Tokerau communities is high 
on the agenda of NorthTec staff and students.     

13,070 Māori currently aged 5-14 years will be in the labour force in 10 years’ time. This presents a significant opportunity for Māori and 
reinforces the need for carefully tailored vocational pathways into further/higher study and/or skilled employment. 

N/A: Not an Investment Plan requirement in 2018
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Qualification completions

All students

In 2018, 51 per cent of Māori successfully completed qualifications, 
a decrease of 9 per cent on 2017. The achievement gap between all 
funded Māori and non Māori successfully completing qualifications 
completions is 24 per cent, with 75 per cent of all funded non Māori 

learners successfully completing qualifications.

SAC students 

In 2018, 51 per cent of Māori successfully completed qualifications, 
a decrease of 13 per cent on 2017. The achievement gap between 
SAC funded Māori and non Māori learners successfully completing 
qualifications is 9 per cent, with 61 per cent of non-Māori SAC learners 
successfully completing qualifications. 

In 2018, 74 per cent of Pasifika learners successfully completed 

courses, a decrease of 5 per cent on 2017.

Māori  Draft Target Actual 

   2018 2018 2017

Level 3 and above  47.55% 65% 64.13%

Level 4 and above  46.14% 63% 71.65%

Pasifika  Draft Target Actual 

   2018 2018 2017

Level 3 and above  46.77% 65% 67.18%

 

Level 4 and above  44.04% 66% 81.28%

There are persistent gaps between Māori and non-Māori course 
achievement in a number of programmes, but also instances of 
this gap being closed where targeted strategies and interventions, 
improvements and support have been put in place. This has supported 
strong trends for Māori course completions leading to the gap between 

Māori and non-Māori qualification completions closing in 2018.   

Retention

Māori  Draft Target Actual 

   2018 2018 2017

Level 3 and above  71.90% 70% 69.05% 

Pasifika  Draft Target Actual 

   2018 2018 2017

Level 3 and above  72.02% 75% 67.34%

     

Progression

  Draft Target Actual

Māori  2018 2018 2017

Levels 1 - 3   28.79% 41% 30% 

to a higher level

  Draft Target Actual

Pasifika  2018 2018 2017

Levels 1 - 3    23.53% 37% 25.40% 

to a higher level

NorthTec continues to work with Māori in a range of ways to 
improve engagement, participation and achievement in our 
programmes. The Raumanga whare hui has provided opportunities for 
whakawhanaungatanga, learning in a culturally appropriate space, and 
free accommodation for regional students. Te Puna o Te Mātauranga 
marae has hosted a range of professional development sessions with 
whanaungatanga as the focus. It has seen an increase in usage for staff 
hui, key internal and external stakeholder meetings and conferences, 
which has enhanced NorthTec’s engagement with staff, the local 
community and iwi. Student initiatives, such as study groups for Māori 
students on the marae and “kai and catch up”, have also proved 
successful.  

Hospitality students provided value to staff and students while they 
learned each week in the marae kitchen, preparing and serving low-cost 
lunches on a commercial cost-recovery basis. This supported the 
students in learning about nutrition and cooking economical healthy 
meals for themselves and their families. Our regional trade-based 
students continued to apply their skills to support community projects, 
like repairing and painting churches and marae. 

Māori successful 
qualification 

completion 51% (9% decrease  
on 2017)
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4.60/5.00

a good place to study

4.66/5.00
Chosen programme is 
relevant to my needs  

and goals

4.65/5.00
Tutors are up to date in 
subject and teaching 

knowledge

4.60/5.00
Tutors are approachable

4.73/5.00 Chosen programme is  
up-to-date

Survey responses from students who identified as Māori
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PRIORITY 4
Improving adult literacy and numeracy 

Lifting literacy and numeracy skills of students and staff continues 
to be a priority for NorthTec. The investment over time in the 
development and support of staff to enable them to achieve the 
National Certificate in Adult Literacy and Numeracy (NCALNE) 
qualification has enabled staff to raise their skills and equip 
themselves with strategies to develop the literacy and numeracy 
skills of learners. 

Staff have a clear understanding of how to administer the literacy 
and numeracy diagnostic tool, how to read the results of this tool, 
how to embed appropriate levels of literacy and numeracy skills 
into their schemes of work and how to align their teaching to the 
relevant levels of the Adult Learning Progressions.

NorthTec learners engaged well with the literacy and numeracy 
diagnostic tool in 2018, with 87 per cent of learners completing 
initial assessments and 76 per cent of students completing 
progress assessments.  Significant gains made by students 
continued to improve with 22 per cent of learners making 
significant gains in reading (an increase of 9 per cent on 2017) 
and 22 per cent making significant gains in numeracy (an increase 
of 7 per cent on 2017).

 
 
 
 
Literacy and numeracy is embedded into all Level 2 programmes, 
and further curriculum development work will ensure that 
embedded practice of literacy and numeracy is “business 
as usual” at Level 3. Individual learning plans are prepared 
with learners that test at Steps 1 and 2 of the Adult Learning 
Progressions, with individual literacy and numeracy goals being 
set by the learners. The learning tool, Pathways Awarua, is used 
as a resource by learners in their self-directed learning time and 
often used by tutors during timetabled teaching hours.

Adult Literacy and Numeracy Education and Adult Tertiary 
qualifications programmes continue to be a priority for 
professional development for all tutors teaching at Levels 2 and 3 
at NorthTec, to assist with the achievement of a fully embedded 
approach to improving literacy and numeracy for our students. 

Adult Community Education (ACE)
 Draft Target Actual 

 2018 2018 2017

ACE EFTS 61.09 81 83.35

4.30/5.00
Students are satisfied to very 

satisfied with the support 
provided to develop Literacy 

and Numeracy Skills

of students completing  
initial assessments overall87% 

2018 NorthTec Satisfaction Survey and the 2017/2018 Student 
Outcome Survey  (Sliding Scale 1-5)

of students completing  
progress assessments overall76% 

of students making significant 
gains overall Reading22.35% 

of students making significant 
gains overall Numeracy22.22% 

of students making  
significant gains overall24.04% 
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“I’m working a six-month contract with DOC as seasonal Fairy Tern 
Ranger at Waipu Cove. The work involves advocacy with beach visitors, 
schools, community groups and the surf club. I also monitor predator 
control by setting and checking 40 traps, and I monitor bird breeding 
and fence off areas where birds are nesting. My NorthTec training has 
been a real match for my work now.

“I started at NorthTec with the Diploma in Environmental Conservation 
and loved the balance of practical and academic content so went on 
to do the degree. My degree research project was on the Bream Head 
skink which was a brand new species at that stage. This project gave 
me the experience to get an internship with an ecological consultancy 
in Wellington where I worked with lizard conservation for a summer 
after I graduated. While doing that I decided to do my Masters degree 
and the consultancy kept me on part-time while I studied.”

“Info gathering and process skills from my skink research project, and 
course field-based survey exercises, exposed me to a wide variety of 
species and habitats. It has also given me the tools to think about how 
to use field data for useful applications. This is all directly relevant to 
the work I do now. Our course work placement requirements also set 
up networks for both work opportunities and peer contact.

“I’m realising that I like working with underdog species like the fairy 
terns and skinks rather than the high profile species, so I’d love for 
that work to continue. Meanwhile, back to work on the beach…”

Ayla Wiles 
Biodiversity Management Graduate 2014

NorthTec provides a gateway to lifelong learning and a rewarding career
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NorthTec continues to consolidate its research culture aiming to build 
on the priorities identified in previous years. These include supporting 
a knowledge economy in Te Tai Tokerau and working in collaboration 
with industry partners to meet local community and industry needs. 
Real-world experience and vocational research which also informs 
and enhances teaching and learning, continue to be key themes in the 
applied research of students and staff. NorthTec has produced quality 
research of local and national value in environmental, health, art and 
technology initiatives over a number of years. 

The Applied Arts team continued to maintain a high level of research 
outcomes through participation in exhibitions at a local, national 
and international level in 2018. Research interests include research 
in Germany for one staff member during the year, along with other 
staff members collaborating on projects with writers and scientists to 
instigate new research outcomes. Involvement in creative symposia 
by staff nationally, and industry opportunities for students to gain 
practical experiences continued to be an important component of the 
2018 arts program.

The Tai Tokerau Climate Change Conference was a focus for the 
Business Programme. NorthTec was one of the conference convenors 
alongside Amokura Iwi Consortium, the Northland District Health 
Board and the Northland Regional Council. The Minister for Climate 
Change opened the conference and three business staff delivered 
papers. An outcome for the conference was the establishment of the 
Climate Change Tai Tokerau Northland Trust. Climate change projects 
will continue to be a theme for School of Business research.  Research 
with an international theme is also on the rise. 

Research activity in Applied and Environmental Sciences continues 
to be underpinned by strong industry links at local, national and 
international levels. Also, as regular contributors to staff-driven 
projects, students continue to benefit from their exposure to quality 
research throughout their education. In 2018, NorthTec-led research 
has directly benefitted the Bream Head Conservation Trust, Kiwi 
Coast, Department of Conservation, Northland Regional Council, 
and several iwi groups, with projects centred on monitoring and 
translocation of threatened species and ecological associations of 
native and pest species. Ecological and taxonomic studies have also 

been undertaken in conjunction with Landcare Research, AgResearch, 
Te Papa Tongarewa-Museum of New Zealand, Waikato University and 
Otago University.

Collaboration with industry partners continues to be a theme in the 
research undertaken by the nursing team at NorthTec. There is also 
increasing emphasis on supporting Māori students and the quality of 
outcomes from the programme for students and for employers. This is 
reflected in the applied research completed, or in progress, in 2018.  
Results of those projects completed were presented internationally 
at conferences and locally at a Research Showcase hosted annually 
by NorthTec. Results were also published within New Zealand and 
internationally. Projects included those exploring skill preparation of 
new graduate registered nurses, documentation in clinical practice, 
strategies for employment of Māori nurses and work challenging 
nurses around equity for Māori and reducing disparity. 

Research within the sport and recreation programme area continues 
to underpin the teaching and learning of staff and students. Adding 
to the already strong programme links between NorthTec and AUT, 
in 2018 staff have engaged in Master’s study under the supervision 
of AUT. The major focus areas for research have included athlete 
development, coach development and community health and 
wellness.

This thirst for developing knowledge and understanding within staff 
has been directly reflected by the enthusiasm for, and calibre of, 
students’ own academic work. As a result there are a number of 
graduates who are enrolling in post graduate study.  NorthTec remains 
fully committed to excellence in research and the Performance-
Based Research Fund (PBRF) process. For the 2018 round, NorthTec 
submitted 9 Evidence Portfolio in July. 

Performance-Based Research Fund (PBRF)

 Draft Target Actual 
 2018 2018 2017 
 $000 $000 $000

PBRF 108 20 99

PRIORITY 5
Strengthening research-based institutions

TERTIARY EDUCATION COMMISSION STRATEGIC
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“Every day after school as a child, I would watch Mum making food, 
then as an adult I was working in food technology in China. I wanted 
to change from checking on food, to learning how to cook it. I have 
a family member and a friend here and they helped me check out 
courses. Auckland was too big and I wanted be in a smaller city so I 
chose NorthTec.

“Learning here is so different than in China because there they tell you 
how to solve the problem. Here you learn how to solve the problem 
yourself. I love deciding on and planning the menu and choosing my 
on dish to go on it. I also like the international mix and support of 

the other students and the calm manner of the tutors – especially in 
helping me with English.

“Getting this qualification will give me more choices. I already work 
in a café in town, and when I finish I want to find work in a restaurant. 
When I have more experience and have learnt more, I’d love to own a 
café or restaurant.”

Rookie Zhu 
Cookery
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PRIORITY 6
Growing international linkages
International student achievement remained very strong in 2018 

and our international students recognise the value of studying at 

NorthTec.

In 2018, NorthTec campuses provide efficient and effective 

education and support to our international students (552 EFTS, 

897 Headcount versus a target of 1,037).  The consolidation and 

ongoing development of the Auckland International campus on 

Queen Street continued throughout 2018 with implementation of 

a new management structure. Changes to immigration rules had a 

negative impact on enrolment numbers towards the end of 2018. 

Our China partnership relationships continue to focus on 

vocational education in order to provide a pathway for Chinese 

students who are enrolled in our partnership schools to come 

to study at NorthTec for a higher qualifications. The long-term 

partnership relationships establish pipelines of international 

students that result in generating sustainable revenue for 

NorthTec as well as social, cultural and economic benefits for 

local communities. 

Our established 17 partnership institutions are situated in 

Guangdong Province, Zhejiang Province, Jiangsu Province and 

Hainan Province in China.  Our work with these institutions 

focuses on tertiary institutions who offer certificate and diploma 

level programmes. 

NorthTec’s Pearson Test of English (PTE) continues to do well 

since it began in 2016.  In 2018, however, the numbers were 

down on the previous year to 4,435 due to the introduction 

of a similar testing centre at the University of Auckland.  PTE 

Academics is the world’s leading computer-based test of English 

for study abroad and immigration.

NorthTec continues to use appropriate practices to support the 

success of international students and to manage growth in this 

area. The monitoring of the Code of Practice is well managed.

Successful course 
completion 91% 

(2% 
decrease  
on 2017)

Successful 
qualification 

completion 105% 
(13% 
increase  
on 2017)

Headcount 14.56% 

International Students

25.5%  552 EFTS (2018)
741 EFTS (2017)
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Audit REPORT 
 

Independent Auditor’s Report 

To the readers of Northland Polytechnic’s 
financial statements and statement of service performance 

for the year ended 31 December 2015 

The Auditor-General is the auditor of Northland Polytechnic (the Polytechnic). The 
Auditor-General has appointed me, Leon Pieterse, using the staff and resources of Audit 
New Zealand, to carry out the audit of the financial statements and the statement of service 
performance of the Polytechnic on her behalf.  

Opinion on the financial statements and the statement of service performance  

We have audited: 

• the financial statements of the Polytechnic on pages 60 to 89, that comprise the 
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2015, the statement of 
comprehensive revenue and expense, statement of changes in equity and statement of 
cash flows for the year ended on that date and the notes to the financial statements 
that include accounting policies and other explanatory information; and 

• the statement of service performance of the Polytechnic included in pages 27 to 53. 

In our opinion: 

• the financial statements of the Polytechnic: 

! present fairly, in all material respects: 

• its financial position as at 31 December 2015; and 

• its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended; 
and 

! comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand and 
have been prepared in accordance with Public Benefit Entity Reporting 
Standards; and 

• the statement of service performance presents fairly, in all material respects, the 
Polytechnic’s performance measured against the proposed outcomes described in the 
investment plan for the year ended 31 December 2015. 

Our audit was completed on 29 April 2016. This is the date at which our opinion is expressed. 

The basis of our opinion is explained below. In addition, we outline the responsibilities of the 
Council and our responsibilities, and explain our independence. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the readers of Northland Polytechnic’s  
financial statements and statement of service performance  

for the year ended 31 December 2018

The Auditor-General is the auditor of Northland Polytechnic (the Polytechnic). The Auditor-General has appointed me, Leon 
Pieterse, using the staff and resources of Audit New Zealand, to carry out the audit of the financial statements and statement of 
service performance of the Polytechnic on his behalf.

Opinion

We have audited:

• the financial statements of the Polytechnic on pages 48 to 81, that comprise the statement of financial position as at  
31 December 2018, the statement of comprehensive revenue and expense, statement of changes in equity and statement of 
cash flows for the year ended on that date and the notes to the financial statements that include accounting policies and other 
explanatory information; and

• the statement of service performance of the Polytechnic on pages 18 to 41.

In our opinion:

• the financial statements of the Polytechnic on pages 48 to 81:

   present fairly, in all material respects:

  °  its financial position as at 31 December 2018; and

  °  its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended; and

   comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand in accordance with Public Benefit Entity Reporting  
      Standards; and

• the statement of service performance of the Polytechnic on pages 18 to 41 presents fairly, in all material respects, the 
Polytechnic’s service performance achievements measured against the proposed outcomes described in the investment plan 
for the year ended 31 December 2018.

Our audit was completed on 30 April 2019. This is the date at which our opinion is expressed.

The basis for our opinion is explained below and we draw your attention to a matter in relation to uncertainties about the 
proposed merger of all polytechnics and institutes of technology. In addition, we outline the responsibilities of the Council and our 
responsibilities relating to the financial statements and the statement of service performance, we comment on other information, 
and we explain our independence.

Uncertainties about the proposed merger of all polytechnics and institutes of technology

Without modifying our opinion, we considered the adequacy of the disclosures made in Note 19 on page 77 that outline the 
Government’s proposal to merge the activities of all polytechnics and institutes of technology. Should the merger proceed, it could 
have a significant impact on the future of the Polytechnic. However, a final decision on the proposal is yet to be made. We consider 
these disclosures to be adequate.
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We carried out our audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which incorporate the Professional and Ethical 
Standards and the International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand) issued by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards 
Board. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Responsibilities of the auditor section of our report.

We have fulfilled our responsibilities in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of the Council for the financial statements and the statement of service 
performance

The Council is responsible on behalf of the Polytechnic for preparing financial statements that are fairly presented and that comply 
with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand. 

The Council is also responsible on behalf of the Polytechnic for preparing a statement of service performance that is fairly presented.

The Council is responsible for such internal control as it determines is necessary to enable it to prepare financial statements and a 
statement of service performance that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements and the statement of service performance, the Council is responsible on behalf of the 
Polytechnic for assessing the Polytechnic’s ability to continue as a going concern. The Council is also responsible for disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting, unless the Council intends to liquidate 
the Polytechnic or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Council’s responsibilities arise from the Crown Entities Act 2004 and the Education Act 1989.

Responsibilities of the auditor for the audit of the financial statements and the statement of 
service performance

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements and the statement of service performance, 
as a whole, are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit carried out in accordance with the Auditor-
General’s Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements are differences or omissions 
of amounts or disclosures, and can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the decisions of readers taken on the basis of these financial statements 
and statement of service performance.

For the budget information reported in the financial statements and the statement of service performance, our procedures were 
limited to checking that the information agreed to the Polytechnic’s Investment Plan.

We did not evaluate the security and controls over the electronic publication of the financial statements and the statement of service 
performance.

As part of an audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. Also:

• We identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements and the statement of service 
performance, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• We obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Polytechnic’s internal control.

• We evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the Council.
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audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the Polytechnic’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements and the statement of service 
performance or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Polytechnic to cease to 
continue as a going concern.

• We evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements and the statement of service 
performance, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements and the statement of service performance 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Council regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit 
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Our responsibilities arise from the Public Audit Act 2001.

Other information

The Council is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included on pages 2 to 17 and 
82 to 95, but does not include the financial statements and the statement of service performance, and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements and the statement of service performance does not cover the other information and we do 
not express any form of audit opinion or assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements and the statement of service performance, our responsibility is to read the 
other information. In doing so, we consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements 
and the statement of service performance or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 
If, based on our work, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that 
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Independence

We are independent of the Polytechnic in accordance with the independence requirements of the Auditor-General’s Auditing 
Standards, which incorporate the independence requirements of Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised): Code of Ethics for 
Assurance Practitioners issued by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board.

Other than the audit, we have no relationship with or interests in the Polytechnic.

Leon Pieterse

Audit New Zealand 
On behalf of the Auditor-General 
Auckland, New Zealand
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In terms of the Education Act 1989 and 
the Crown Entities Act 2004, Council and 
Management certify that: 

Jane Hindle Wayne Jackson

Council Chairperson Chief Executive (Acting)

30 April 2019 30 April 2019

1
2
3

We have been responsible for the preparation of these financial statements  
and the statements of service performance for Northland Polytechnic and the  
judgements used therein. 

We are of the opinion that these financial statements and the statements of service  
performance fairly reflect the financial position of Northland Polytechnic as  
at 31 December 2018 and the results of the operations for the year ended  
31 December 2018.

We have been responsible for establishing and maintaining a system of internal control 
designed to provide reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability of financial  and 
non-financial information. 

RESPONSIBILITY
For the year ended 31 December 2018

STATEMENT OF
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Actual Budget Actual

2018 2018 2017

$000 $000 $000

Revenue                                                         Note

Government grants 3 20,700 20,679 23,471 

Tuition fees 3  14,031  13,984  16,586 

Other revenue 3  2,239  2,216  2,386 

Total revenue  36,970  36,879  42,443 

Expenses

Personnel costs 4  24,652  23,342  27,547 

Depreciation and amortisation expense 10, 11  2,993  2,933  3,085 

Other expenses 5  13,093  12,272  15,132 

Total expenses  40,738  38,547  45,764 

Surplus/(deficit) (3,768) (1,668) (3,322)

Other comprehensive revenue and expense

Transfer to reserves 16  - 

Property revaluations 16 (13)

Total other comprehensive revenue and expense (13)

Total comprehensive revenue and expense (3,768) (1,668) (3,334)

Explanations of major variations against budget are provided in note 21.

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

STATEMENTS AND NOTES
Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense for the year ended 31 December 2018
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Actual Budget Actual

2018 2018 2017

$000 $000 $000

Assets                                                           Note

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 6  3,684  2,435  6,166 

Receivables 7  3,161  2,500  3,221 

Other financial assets 8  10,000  12,000  6,763 

Inventories 9  18  30  28 

Prepayments  212  350  352 

Total current assets  17,075  17,315  16,530 

Non-current assets

Other financial assets 8  -  -  2,500 

Property, plant and equipment 10 39,148 39,600 41,234 

Intangible assets 11 415 275 511 

Investment in other entities 12  1,209  1,096  756 

Total non-current assets  40,772  40,971  45,001 

Total assets  57,847  58,286  61,531 

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Payables 13  2,964  2,591  3,516 

Deferred revenue 14  6,026  5,000  4,988 

Employee entitlements 15   1,706   1,500  1,473 

Provisions 17  1,109  1,100  1,744 

Total current liabilities  11,805  10,191  11,721 

Non-current liabilities

Employee entitlements 15  15  -  14 

Total non-current liabilities  15  -  14 

Total liabilities  11,819  10,191  11,735 

Net assets   46,028   48,095  49,796 

Equity

General funds 16   24,281   26,347  28,049 

Property revaluation reserves 16  21,666  21,666  21,666 

Restricted reserves 16  81  82  81 

Total equity   46,028   48,095  49,796 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND NOTES

Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2018

FI
N

A
N

C
IA

L 
ST

AT
EM

EN
TS

 A
N

D
 N

O
TE

S



50

FI
N

A
N

C
IA

L 
ST

AT
EM

EN
TS

 A
N

D
 N

O
TE

S

     

Actual Budget Actual
2018 2018 2017

Note $000 $000 $000

Balance at 1 January                                49,796  49,763  50,130

Transfer to reserves - -  - 

Total comprehensive revenue and expense (3,768) (1,668) (3,334)

Balance at 31 December 16  46,028  48,095  49,796

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND NOTES

Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 31 December 2018

Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 31 December 2018
Actual Budget Actual

2018 2018 2017
$000 $000 $000

Cash flows from operating activities                                                

Receipts from government grants 20,338 19,894 24,441 

Receipts from tuition fees 14,789 13,984 15,526 

Interest revenue received 517 526 547 

Dividends received - - 43 

Receipts from other revenue 1,981 1,691 1,410 

Payments to employees (25,054) (23,344) (26,874)

Payments to suppliers (12,959) (12,271) (14,606)

Goods and services tax (net) (179) - 308 

Net cash flow from operating activities (566) 480 795 

Cash flows from investing activities

Receipts from sale of property, plant and equipment 7 - 25 

Application of student hardship funds 2 - 1 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (602) (1,100) (1,805)

Purchase of intangible assets (211) - (233)

Acquisition of shares (374) (374) - 

Purchase of investments (19,163) (21,763)

Receipts from sale/maturity of investments 18,425 (2,737) 27,063 

Net cash flow from investing activities (1,916) (4,211) 3,287 

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (2,482) (3,731) 4,081 

Cash & cash equivalents at beginning of the year 6,166 6,167 2,085 

Cash & cash equivalents at end of the year 3,684 2,436 6,166 

Explanations of major variations against budget are provided in note 21. 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND NOTES

Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 31 December 2018 (continued) 
Reconciliation of net surplus (deficit) to the net cash flow from operating activities

  

Actual Budget Actual
2018 2018 2017
$000 $000 $000

 Surplus/(deficit) (3,768) (1,668) (3,322)

Add/(less) non-cash items

Depreciation and amortisation expense 2,993 2,933 3,085 

(Gains)/losses on shares acquisition (79) (221)

Increase/(decrease) in non-current employee entitlements 1 (14) (5)

Total non-cash items 2,915 2,919 2,859 

Add/(less) items classified as investing or financing activities

(Gains)/losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment (7) (569) (6)

Prior year reclassification of work in progress - 125 

Student hardship funds - - 

Total items classified as investing or financing activities (7) (569) 119 

Add/(less) movements in working capital items

(Increase)/decrease in receivables 60 721 199 

(Increase)/decrease in inventories 10 2 7 

(Increase)/decrease in prepayments 140 2 61 

Increase/(decrease) in payables (553) (245) 2,349 

Increase/(decrease) in deferred revenue 1,039 (13) (1,522)

Increase/(decrease) in current employee entitlements 233 (27) 44

Increase/(decrease) in provisions (635) (644)  -

Net movement in working capital items 294 (203) 1,139 

Net cash flow from operating activities (566) 480 795 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND NOTES
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1. STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

REPORTING ENTITY

Northland Polytechnic, trading as NorthTec, is a TEI that is 
domiciled and operates in New Zealand. The relevant legislation 
governing NorthTec’s operations includes the Crown Entities Act 
2004 and the Education Act 1989.

NorthTec provides educational and research services for the 
benefit of the community. It does not operate to make a financial 
return.

NorthTec has designated itself a public benefit entity (PBE) for 
financial reporting purposes.

The financial statements of NorthTec are for the year ended 31 
December 2018. The financial statements were authorised for 
issue by the Council on 30th April 2019.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The financial statements have been prepared on a going 
concern basis, and the accounting policies have been applied 
consistently throughout the period apart from Investments in 
Other Entities. During 2018 NorthTec changed its accounting 
policy for the treatment of Investments in Other Entities.  This 
change reflects that NorthTec has reviewed its relationship 
with the entity and holds significant influence and that TANZ 
eCampus Ltd is neither a subsidiary or an interest in a joint 
operation. Management judges that the adoption of IPSAS 7 
Investments in Associates reflects the nature of the Investment.
Previously, NorthTec reported the Investment in TANZ eCampus 
Limited on a cost basis.  This investment is now treated as 
an Associated Entity and Equity Accounting has been used 
to report the value of TANZ eCampus Ltd. This change in 
accounting policy has been accounted for retrospectively, and 
the comparative statements for 2017 have been restated.  The 
effect of the change on 2017 is below. Opening accumulate 
comprehensive revenue and expense has been increased by $34 
($000).  There is no effect on periods prior to 2017.

Effect on 2017   $000 
Increase in Other Revenue      38 
Increase in Other Expenses      -4 
Increase in comprehensive revenue and expenses     34

Statement of compliance 
The financial statements of NorthTec have been prepared 
in accordance with the requirements of the Crown Entities 
Act 2004 and the Education Act 1989, which include the 
requirement to comply with New Zealand generally accepted 
accounting practice (NZ GAAP).

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with Tier 1 PBE accounting standards. 

These financial statements comply with PBE accounting 
standards.

Presentation currency and rounding 
The financial statements are presented in New Zealand 
dollars and all values, other than the related party transaction 
disclosures in Note 18 are rounded to the nearest thousand 
($000).  Related party transaction disclosures are rounded to 
the nearest dollar.

Standards issued and not yet effective and not 
early adopted 
PBE IFRS 9 Financial Instruments replaces PBE IPSAS 29 
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and is 
effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 
2021, with earlier adoption permitted. The main changes under 
the standard relevant to the Institute are: 

• New financial asset classification requirements for 
determining whether an asset is measured at fair value or 
amortised cost. 

•  A new impairment model for financial assets based on 
expected losses, which might result in the earlier recognition 
of impairment losses. 

The Financial Statements of the Government will early adopt 
PBE IFRS 9 for the 30 June 2019 financial year. The Institute 
intends to early adopt PBE IFRS 9 for the 31 December 2019 
financial year to be consistent with the Crown’s accounting 
policies for financial instruments. The Institute has not yet 
assessed in detail the impact of the new standard.

PBE IPSAS 34-38 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures 
replace the existing standards for interests in other entities 
(PBE IPSAS 6-8). The new standard are effective for annual 
period beginning on or after 1 January 2019. The Institute will 
apply these new standards in preparing the 31 December 2019 
financial statements. There is not expected to be a major change 
from applying these new standards as the Investment in TANZ 
eCampus Ltd is equity accounted into the financial statements.

PBE FRS 48 replaces the service performance reporting 
requirements of PBE IPSAS 1 and is effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021. The Institute is 
required to prepare its performance information in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting practice (GAAP) from 
31 December 2019 year-ends. The Institute is considering 
whether it will early adopt PBE FRS 48 for the 31 December 
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2019 year end rather than apply the existing performance 
information requirements of PBE IPSAS 1. The Institute has not 
yet determined how application of PBE FRS 48 will affect its 
statement of service performance.

An amendment to PBE IPSAS 2 Statement of Cash Flows 
requires entities to provide disclosures that enable users of 
financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising 
from financing activities, including both changes arising from 
cash flows and non-cash changes. This amendment is effective 
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021, with 
early application permitted. The Institute does not intend to 
early adopt the amendment.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES 

Significant accounting policies are included in the notes to 
which they relate.

Significant accounting policies that do not relate to a specific 
note are outlined below.

Leases 
Finance leases 
A finance lease is a lease that transfers to the lessee 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of 
an asset, whether or not title is eventually transferred.

At the start of the lease term, finance leases are recognised as 
assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position at the 
lower of the fair value of the leased item and the present value 
of the minimum lease payments.

The finance charge is charged to the surplus or deficit over 
the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of 
interest on the remaining balance of the liability.

The amount recognised as an asset is depreciated over its 
useful life. If there is no certainty as to whether NorthTec will 
obtain ownership at the end of the lease term, the asset is fully 
depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and its useful life.

Foreign currency transactions 
Foreign currency transactions (including those for which 
forward foreign exchange contracts are held) are translated into 
New Zealand dollars (the functional currency) using the spot 
exchange rate prevailing at the date of the transactions. Foreign 
exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such 
transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange 
rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are recognised in the surplus or deficit.

Goods and services tax  
All items in the financial statements are stated exclusive of GST, 
except for receivables and payables, which are presented on a 
GST-inclusive basis. Where GST is not recoverable as input tax, 
it is recognised as part of the related asset or expense.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the IRD 
is included as part of receivables or payables in the statement 
of financial position.

The net GST paid to, or received from, the IRD, including the GST 
relating to investing and financing activities, is classified as a net 
operating cash flow in the statement of cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed exclusive of GST.

Income tax 
NorthTec is exempt from income tax. Accordingly, no provision 
has been made for income tax.

Budget figures 
The budget figures are those approved by the Council at 
the start of the financial year. The budget figures have been 
prepared in accordance with NZ GAAP, using accounting 
policies that are consistent with those adopted by the Council in 
preparing these financial statements.

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions 
In preparing these financial statements, estimates and 
assumptions have been made concerning the future. These 
estimates and assumptions may differ from the subsequent 
actual results. Estimates and assumptions are continually 
evaluated and are based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations or future events that are 
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of 
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities within the next financial year are:

•  Estimating the fair value of land, buildings and infrastructure 
– refer to Note 10.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies 
Management has exercised the following critical judgements in 
applying accounting policies for the year ended 31 December 
2018:
• Distinction between revenue and capital contributions – 

refer to Note 3
• Crown-owned land and buildings – refer to Note 10

1.  STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
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2. SUMMARY COST OF SERVICES

Breakdown of summary cost of services for NorthTec
Actual Budget Actual

2018 2018 2017
$000 $000 $000

Revenue

Business & Service Industries  4,838  4,723  4,933 

Construction  4,065  3,550  4,658 

Creative Industries & Languages  2,649  2,472  2,734 

Foundation Learning  -    -    1,407 

Manufacturing & Technology  4,165  3,987  4,033 

Nursing  4,690  4,697  4,384 

Primary Industries  4,953  5,746  6,170 

Social Services  1,796  1,744  2,315 

Workplace Safety  1,220  855  1,538 

Other activities international  6,402  6,700  8,457 

Total revenue from services  34,779  34,473  40,629 

Other support services income  2,191  2,407  1,814

Total revenue   36,970  36,879  42,443 

Expenses
Business & Service Industries  3,525  2,957  3,259 

Construction  2,076  1,842  2,626 

Creative Industries & Languages  1,376  1,304  1,525 

Foundation Learning  -    125  935 

Graham Lowe  -    -    3 

Manufacturing & Technology  2,449  2,182  2,636 

Nursing  1,751  1,814  1,754 

Primary Industries  3,001  3,122  4,092 

Social Services  825  978  909 

Workplace Safety  839  600  909 

Other activities international  4,722  4,359  5,123 

Total cost of services  20,563  19,283  23,771 

Other support services cost  20,175  19,264  21,993 

Total expenses  40,738  38,547  45,764

ACCOUNTING POLICY 
The cost of service for each significant activity of NorthTec has been derived using the cost allocation system outlined below.

Direct costs are those costs directly attributable to a significant activity. Indirect costs are those costs that cannot be 
identified in an economically feasible manner with a specific significant activity.

Direct costs are charged directly to significant activities.  

There have been no changes to the cost allocation methodology since the date of the last audited financial statements.
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3. REVENUE

ACCOUNTING POLICY 
Revenue is measured at fair value.

The specific accounting policies for significant revenue items are explained below.

Student Achievement Component (SAC) funding

SAC funding is NorthTec’s main source of operational funding from the Tertiary Education Commission (TEC). NorthTec 
considers SAC funding to be non-exchange and recognises SAC funding as revenue when the course withdrawal date has 
passed, based on the number of eligible students enrolled in the course at that date and the value of the course.

Student tuition fees

Domestic student tuition fees are subsidised by government funding and are considered non-exchange. Revenue is 
recognised when the course withdrawal date has passed, which is when a student is no longer entitled to a refund for 
withdrawing from the course.

International student tuition fees are accounted for as exchange transactions and recognised as revenue on a course 
percentage of completion basis. The percentage of completion is measured by reference to the days of the course completed 
as a proportion of the total course days.

Fees-Free

North Tec considers fees-free revenue is non-exchange revenue and recognises revenue when the course withdrawal date 
for an eligible student has passed.  NorthTec has presented funding received for fees-free as part of student fees. This is on 
the basis that receipts from TEC are for payment on behalf of the student as specified in the relevant funding mechanism. In 
2018 the value of Fees-Free income received by NorthTec was $1,142,000 (2017: nil).

Performance-Based Research Fund (PBRF)

NorthTec considers PBRF funding to be non-exchange in nature. PBRF funding is specifically identified by the TEC as being 
for a funding period as required by section 159YA of the Education Act 1989. NorthTec recognises its confirmed allocation 
of PBRF funding at the commencement of the specified funding period, which is the same as NorthTec’s financial year. PBRF 
revenue is measured based on NorthTec’s funding entitlement adjusted for any expected adjustments as part of the final 
wash-up process. Indicative funding for future periods is not recognised until confirmed for that future period.

Other grants received

Other grants are recognised as revenue when they become receivable unless there is an obligation in substance to return the 
funds if conditions of the grant are not met. If there is such an obligation, the grants are initially recorded as grants received 
in advance when received and recognised as revenue when the conditions of the grant are satisfied.

Donations, bequests and pledges

Donations and bequests are recognised as revenue when the right to receive the fund or asset has been established, unless 
there is an obligation in substance to return the funds if conditions of the donation or bequest are not met. If there is such an 
obligation, they are initially recorded as revenue in advance when received and recognised as revenue when the conditions 
are satisfied. Pledges are not recognised as assets or revenue until the pledged item is received.

Sales of goods

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised when the product is sold to the customer.

Interest and dividends

Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest method.

Dividends are recognised when the right to receive payment has been established.
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3. REVENUE (CONTINUED)

2018 2017
$000 $000

i) Government grants
Tertiary Education Commission

Student Achievement Component (SAC) funding  18,499  20,672 

Performance-Based Research Funding  109  100 

Adult Community Education (ACE)  271  363 

Total Tertiary Education Commission  18,879  21,135 

Other

Other grants  254  304 

Quest Rapuara (STAR)  605  631 

Industry Training Organisations (ITO)  963  1,401 

Total Other  1,821  2,336 

Total government grants  20,700  23,471 

ii) Tuition fees

Fees from domestic students  4,500  6,003 

Free fees for domestic students  1,142 

Fees from international students  8,389  10,583 

Total tuition fees  14,031  16,586 

iii) Other revenue

Compulsory Student Services Fee  164 130

Café revenue  345  387 

Interest  517  547 

Dividends  -  43 

Rent received  474  424 

Other revenue  661  856 

Share of Associates  79 -

Total other revenue  2,239  2,386 

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
Distinction between revenue and capital contributions

Most Crown funding received is operational in nature and is provided by the Crown under the authority of an expense 
appropriation and is recognised as revenue. Where funding is received from the Crown under the authority of a capital 
appropriation, NorthTec accounts for the funding as a capital contribution directly in equity.

Research revenue

NorthTec exercises its judgement in determining whether funding received under a research contract is an exchange or non-
exchange transaction. In making its judgement, NorthTec considers factors such as:

• Whether the funder has substantive rights to the research output. This is a persuasive indicator of exchange or  
non-exchange.

• How the research funds were obtained - for example, whether through a commercial tender process for specified  
work or from applying to a general research funding pool.

• Nature of the funder.
• Specificity of the research brief or contract.

Judgement is often required in determining the timing of revenue recognition for contracts that span a balance date and for 
multi-year research contracts.
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Breakdown of personnel costs and further information
2018 2017

$000 $000

Academic salaries  13,140  14,273 

General salaries and wages  10,648  11,404 

Redundancies  311  1,303 

Employer contributions to defined contribution scheme  553  567 

Total personnel costs  24,652  27,547 

For the year ended 31 December 2018, NorthTec made 50 (2017: 3) cessation payments to employees totalling $969,824 (2017: $83,789).

4. PERSONNEL COSTS

ACCOUNTING POLICY 
Superannuation schemes

Defined contribution schemes

Employer contributions to KiwiSaver, the Government Superannuation Fund, and other defined contribution superannuation 
schemes are accounted for as defined contribution schemes and are recognised as an expense in the surplus or deficit when 
incurred.

Council member remuneration 

Councillor remuneration paid or payable during the year was:

2018 2017
$000 $000

Wayne Jackson Chairperson  29  28 
Jane Hindle Deputy Chairperson  18  17 
Kenneth Eastwood Appointed June 2017  14  11 
Warren Moyes Resigned April 2018  5  16 
Bronwyn Yates  14  15 
Karleen Everitt  14  19 
Eru Lyndon  14  13 

Vern Dark
Former Council Chair, term expired April 

2017
 -  11 

Kate Cherrington  14  16 
Murray Bain Appointed May 2018  10  - 
Total Councillors' remuneration  133  146 

No Councillors received compensation or other benefits in relation to cessation (2017 $nil)
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5. OTHER EXPENSES

ACCOUNTING POLICY 
Scholarships

Scholarships awarded by NorthTec that reduce the amount of tuition fees payable by the student are accounted for as an 
expense and not offset against student tuition fees revenue.

Operating leases

An operating lease is a lease that does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset.

Lease payments under an operating lease are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Lease incentives received are recognised in the surplus or deficit as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term.

Breakdown of other expenses and further information
2018 2017
$000 $000

Fees to auditor

   Fees to Audit New Zealand for audit of financial statements  118  115 

   Provision for fees and disbursements to Audit New Zealand including prior year  9  15 

   Fees to other audit firms for other services  -  - 

Operating lease payments  1,620  1,713 

Repairs and maintenance  590  681 

Other occupancy costs  589  826 

Information technology  814  739 

Advertising and public relations  609  738 

Insurance premiums  181  156 

Consultants and legal fees  794  878 

Office costs  1,193  1,185 

Travel and accommodation  357  458 

Other course-related costs  5,295  6,231 

Impairment of work in progress -  194 

Impairment of receivables  184  93 

Council remuneration  132  131 

Gain on sale of property plant and equipment (7) (192)

Professional development  217  355 

Share of Associates  -  4 

Other operating expenses  398 813 

Total other expenses  13,093  15,132 
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5. OTHER EXPENSES (CONTINUED)

Operating leases as lessor 
NorthTec sub-leases a portion of the Raumanga Campus property to Te Wānanga o Aotearoa under an operating lease arrangement. 
The initial lease had a term of three years with three rights of renewal each for three years. The sub-lease is currently in its second 
right of renewal. Heritage New Zealand Pouhere Taonga sub-leases a portion of the Kerikeri campus. The lease commenced 20 
August 2018, the lease has a term of two years with one right of renewal after the initial two years. The future aggregate minimum 
lease payments to be collected under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

2018 2017
$000 $000

Not later than one year  144  117 

Later than one year but not later than five years  433  473

Later than five years  -  59

Total non-cancellable operating leases  577  649 

2018 2017

 Lease $000 $000

Not later than one year  1,310  1,185 

Later than one year but not later than five years  4,252  5,121 

Later than five years  3,999  3,828 

Total non-cancellable operating leases  9,561  10,135 

Contingent Rent 
NorthTec has a month by month lease contract with Fuji Xerox New Zealand Limited for its printing devices. The pricing structure is based on set contract 

rates for devices charged on monthly print volumes as per the May 2018 expired contract.

Operating leases as lessee and sublessee 
NorthTec leases property, plant and equipment in the normal course of business. The leases have varying non-cancellable terms of at 
least 36 months and up to 10 years. 

The long term lease on the Futures Trades Centre building is $641,063 per year with 4 years 3 months left on the current renewal 
period. Renewal options are available with 2 periods of 5 years each. The remaining renewal dates are 1 August in years 2023 and 
2028. Rent is to be reviewed to market in 2028, and on the basis of the movement of the annual Consumer Price Index over the 
previous 5 years plus 1% per annum in 2023. NorthTec is planning to implement the 2023 option when it becomes available due 
to the projected growth in trade programme delivery and cost of relocating the infrastructure within the next renewal period. The 
value of the 2023 option for Dyer St is valued in the commitments as $3,521,000 (later than one year but not later than five years, 
$294,000; later than five years $3,229,000).

NorthTec leases residential apartments located at Central Avenue in Whangārei to provide international student accommodation.   
The initial lease term is for 10 years with rent review and one right of renewal at 10 years.  

The future aggregate minimum lease payments payable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

 Sublease

Not later than one year  65  85 

Later than one year but not later than five years  -  65 

Later than five years  -  - 

Total non-cancellable operating sublease  65  150 
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6. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

ACCOUNTING POLICY 
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments 
with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts.

Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities in the statement of financial position.

Breakdown of cash and cash equivalents and further information
2018 2017
$000 $000

Cash at bank and on hand 75  9 

Call deposits  3,609  1,156 

Term deposits with maturities less than three months at acquisition  -  5,000 

Total cash and cash equivalents  3,684  6,165 

The carrying value of cash at bank, call deposits, and term deposits with maturities less than three months approximates their fair value.

Breakdown of receivables and further information
2018 2017

$000 $000

Student fee receivables

Student fee receivables  2,671  2,182 

Less: provision for impairment (44) (31)

Net student fee receivables  2,627  2,151 

Other receivables

Other  837  1,240 

Less: Provision for impairment (303) (169)

Net other receivables  534  1,071 

Total receivables  3,161  3,222 

7. RECEIVABLES

ACCOUNTING POLICY 
Receivables are recorded at the amount due, less any provision for uncollectability.

A receivable is considered uncollectable when there is evidence that the amount due will not be fully collected.  The amount 
that is uncollectable is the difference between the amount due and the present value of the amount expected to be collected.
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Movements in the provision for impairment of student fee receivables are as follows:

2018 2017

$000 $000

At 1 January  31  89 

Additional provisions made during the year 13 (58)

At 31 December  44  31 

NorthTec holds no collateral as security or other credit enhancements over receivables that are either past due or impaired.

7. RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

The ageing profile of other receivables at year end is detailed below:

2018 2017

Gross Provision for  
uncollectability Net Gross Provision for  

uncollectability Net

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Not past due - - - 718 - 718 

Past due 1–30 days 284 - 284 196 - 196 

Past due 31–60 days 195 - 195 6 - 6 

Past due 61–90 days 9 - 9 2 - 2 

Past due over 90 days 349 303 46 317 169 148 

Total 837 303 534 1,240 169 1,071 

Fair value

Student fees are due before a course begins or are due upon enrolment if the course has already begun. Student fee receivables 
are non-interest bearing and are generally paid in full by the course start date, therefore, their carrying value approximates their 
fair value. For courses that span more than one semester, domestic students can arrange for fees to be paid in instalments.

Other receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally settled on 30-day terms, therefore, the carrying value of other 
receivables approximates their fair value.

Assessment for uncollectability

The ageing profile of student fee receivables at year end is detailed below:

2018 2017

Gross Provision for  
uncollectability Net Gross Provision for  

uncollectability Net

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Not past due 1,863 - 1,863 1,950 - 1,950 

Past due 1–30 days 476 - 476 63 - 63 

Past due 31–60 days 33 - 33 26 - 26 

Past due 61–90 days  9 - 9 8 - 8 

Past due over 90 days 290 44 246 136 31 105 

Total 2,671 44 2,627 2,182 31 2,151 

Due to the large number of student fee receivables, the impairment assessment is performed on a collective basis, based on an analysis of past 

collection history and debt write-off. All receivables greater than 30 days in age are considered past due.
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8. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

ACCOUNTING POLICY 
Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs unless they are carried at fair value through surplus 
or deficit in which case the transaction costs are recognised in the surplus or deficit.

Purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on which NorthTec commits to purchase or sell 
the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or 
have been transferred and NorthTec has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

Term deposits

Term deposits are initially measured at the amount invested. Where applicable, interest is subsequently accrued and added to 
the investment balance.

Impairment

A significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the investment below its cost is considered objective evidence of 
impairment. If impairment evidence exists, the cumulative loss recognised in other comprehensive revenue and expense is 
transferred from equity to the surplus or deficit.

Impairment losses on equity investments recognised in the surplus or deficit are not reversed through the surplus or deficit.

Breakdown of other financial assets and further information 2018 2017

$000 $000

Current portion

Term deposits with maturities greater than 3 months and remaining duration less than 12 months  10,000  6,763 

Total current portion  10,000  6,763 

Non-current portion  

Term deposits maturities with remaining duration greater than 12 months  2,500 

Total non-current portion  2,500 

Total other financial assets  10,000  9,263 

Fair value

Term deposits 
The fair value of current term deposits is deemed to be the carrying value.

Impairment 
There were no impairment provisions for other financial assets. None of the financial assets are either past due or impaired.
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Breakdown of inventories and further information
2018 2017

$000 $000

Inventories held for distribution

Materials and consumables 16  27 

Commercial inventories   

Student café 2  1 

Total inventories 18  28 

No inventories are pledged as security for liabilities (2017 $nil).  However, some inventories are subject to retention of title clauses.

Inventories held for distribution
There have been no write downs of inventories held for distribution during the year (2017 $nil) and there have been no reversals of write-downs 
(2017 $nil).

9. INVENTORIES

ACCOUNTING POLICY 
Inventories are held for distribution or for use in the provision of services.  Inventories that are not supplied on a commercial 
basis are measured at cost adjusted, when applicable, for any loss of service potential.

Inventories acquired through non-exchange transactions are measured at fair value at the date of acquisition.

Inventories held for use in the production of goods and services on a commercial basis are valued at the lower of cost and 
net realisable value.

Cost is allocated using first in, first out (FIFO) method, which assumes the inventories that were purchased first are 
distributed or used first.

The amount of any write-down for the loss of service potential or from cost to net realisable value is recognised in the 
surplus or deficit in the year of the write-down.
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10. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

ACCOUNTING POLICY 
Property, plant, and equipment consist of the following asset classes: land, buildings, leasehold improvements, computer 
hardware, furniture and fittings, electronic equipment, motor vehicles, library collection, and art collections.

Land is measured at fair value, and buildings are measured at fair value less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 
All other asset classes are measured at cost, less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Revaluations

Land and buildings are revalued with sufficient regularity to ensure that their carrying amount does not differ materially from 
fair value, and at least every three years. 

The carrying values of revalued assets are assessed annually to ensure that they do not differ materially from fair value. If 
there is evidence supporting a material difference, then the off-cycle asset classes are revalued.

Revaluations of property, plant, and equipment are accounted for on a class-of-asset basis. 

The net revaluation results are credited or debited to other comprehensive revenue and expense and are accumulated to an 
asset revaluation reserve in equity for that class-of-asset. Where this would result in a debit balance in the asset revaluation 
reserve, this balance is not recognised in other comprehensive revenue and expense but is recognised in the surplus or 
deficit. Any subsequent increase on revaluation that reverses a previous decrease in value recognised in the surplus or 
deficit will be recognised first in the surplus or deficit up to the amount previously expensed, and then recognised in other 
comprehensive revenue and expense.

Additions

The cost of an item of property, plant, and equipment is recognised as an asset if it is probable that future economic benefits 
or service potential associated with the item will flow to NorthTec and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Work in progress is recognised at cost less impairment and is not depreciated.

The costs of day-to-day servicing of property, plant, and equipment are recognised in the surplus or deficit as they are 
incurred.

In most instances, an item of property, plant, and equipment is initially recognised at its cost. Where an asset is acquired at 
no cost, or for a nominal cost, it is recognised at fair value as at the date of acquisition.

Disposals

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the disposal proceeds with the carrying amount of the asset. 
Gains and losses on disposals are reported net in the surplus or deficit. When revalued assets are sold, the amounts included 
in property revaluation reserves in respect of those assets are transferred to general funds.

Depreciation

Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on all property, plant, and equipment other than land and art collections, 
at rates that will write off the cost (or valuation) of the assets to their estimated residual values over their useful lives. Art 
collections are not depreciated because they are maintained such that they have indefinite or sufficiently long useful lives 
that any depreciation is considered to be negligible.
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The useful lives and associated depreciation rates of major classes of assets have been estimated as follows:

Buildings     1% to 5%

Leasehold improvements   Life of lease

Furniture and fittings   10%

Electronic equipment   25%

Computer hardware   25%

Office equipment    20%

Motor vehicles     20%

Library collection     10%

Art collection    Nil

Plant and tools    10%

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated remaining 
useful lives of the improvements.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant, and equipment held at cost that have a finite useful life are reviewed for impairment at each balance date 
and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment 
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable 
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value, less costs to sell and value in use.

If an asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered to be impaired and the carrying 
amount is written down to the recoverable amount. The impairment loss is recognised in the surplus or deficit.

Value in use for non-cash-generating assets

Non-cash-generating assets are those assets that are not held with the primary objective of generating a commercial return.

For non-cash-generating assets, value in use is determined using an approach based on either a depreciated replacement 
cost approach, restoration cost approach, or a service units approach. The most appropriate approach used to measure 
value in use depends on the nature of the impairment and availability of information.

Value in use for cash-generating assets

Cash-generating assets are those assets that are held with the primary objective of generating a commercial return.

The value in use for cash-generating assets and cash-generating units is the present value of expected future cash flows.

10. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS 
Estimating the fair value of land, buildings and infrastructure

The most recent valuations of land and buildings were performed by independent registered valuers, M Richards ANZIV 
MPINZ and B Sworn MPINZ of Telfer Young Ltd.  The valuation is effective as at 31 December 2016. The next formal valuation 
is scheduled as at 31 December 2019.

Land
Land is valued at fair value using market based evidence based on its highest and best use with reference to comparable 
land values.  Adjustments have been made to the "unencumbered" land value for campus land where there is a designation 
against the land, or the use of the land is restricted because of reserve or endowment status.  These adjustments are intended 
to reflect the negative effect on the value of the land where an owner is unable to use the land more intensely.
Restrictions on NorthTec's ability to sell land would normally not impair the value of the land because NorthTec has 
operational use of the land for the foreseeable future and will subsequently receive the full benefits of outright ownership.

Buildings

Specialised buildings (e.g. campuses) are valued at fair value using depreciated replacement cost because no reliable market 
data is available for buildings designed for education delivery purposes.

Depreciation replacement cost is determined using a number of significant assumptions. Significant assumptions include:

•  The replacement asset is based on the reproduction cost of the specific assets with adjustments where 
    appropriate for obsolescence due to over-design or surplus capacity. 
• The replacement cost is derived from recent construction contracts of similar assets and Property Institute of  
 New Zealand cost information. 
• Estimating the remaining useful life of assets. 
• Straight-line depreciation has been applied in determining the depreciated cost value of the asset.

Non-specialised buildings (e.g. residential buildings) are valued at fair value using market-based evidence. Market rents and 
capitalisation rates were applied to reflect market value.

10. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Crown-owned land and buildings

Property in the legal name of the Crown that is occupied by NorthTec is recognised as an asset in the statement of financial 
position. NorthTec considers that it has assumed all the normal risks and rewards of ownership of this property despite legal 
ownership not being transferred and accordingly it would be misleading to exclude these assets from the financial statements.

The legal ownership of land and buildings is detailed as follows:

      Land    Buildings

2018 2017 2018 2017
$000 $000 $000 $000

NorthTec-owned 2,486 2,243 17,265 17,720

Crown-owned 1,524 1,767 10,581 10,962

Total 4,010 4,010 27,846 28,682
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10. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Breakdown of property, plant and equipment and further information 

Movements for each class of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

2018
Cost / Revaluation Accumulated Depreciation Net Book Value

Balance at  
1 Jan 2018

Additions/ 
reclassifi- 

cations Disposals

Balance at  
31 Dec 

2018
Balance at  

1 Jan 2018 Depreciation

Disposal/ 
elimination on 

revaluation
Balance at 

31 Dec 2018
Balance at  

1 Jan 2018
Balance at 

31 Dec 2018

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Land 4,010 - - 4,010 - - - - 4,010 4,010

Buildings 30,369 82 - 30,451 1,316 1,289 - 2,605 29,053 27,846

Leasehold improvements 5,111 - - 5,111 1,753 263 - 2,016 3,358 3,095

Computer hardware 4,907 154 (2) 5,059 3,904 467 - 4,371 1,003 688

Computers (Leased) 618 - - 618 618 - - 618 - -

Electronic equipment 1,491 69 - 1,560 1,335 80 6 1,421 156 139

Electronic equipment (Leased) 27 - - 27 27 - - 27 - -

Furniture and fittings 2,100 77 (8) 2,169 1,580 94 - 1,674 520 495

Library collection 1,261 37 - 1,298 681 114 - 795 580 503

Art collection 500 - 500 - - - - 500 500

Motor vehicles 1,028 - - 1,028 662 142 - 804 365 223

Office equipment 282 - - 282 259 6 - 265 23 17

Plant and equipment 4,755 91 (14) 4,832 3,191 282 5 3,478 1,564 1,354

Work in progress 102 174 276 - - - - 102 276

Total plant and equipment 56,562 684 (24) 57,222 15,326 2,737 11 18,074 41,236 39,148

Breakdown of property, plant and equipment and further information 

Movements for each class of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

2017
Cost / Revaluation Accumulated Depreciation Net Book Value

Balance at  
1 Jan 2017

Additions/ 
reclassifi- 

cations Disposals

Balance at  
31 Dec 

2017
Balance at  

1 Jan 2017 Depreciation

Disposal/ 
elimination on 

revaluation
Balance at 

31 Dec 2017
Balance at  

1 Jan 2017
Balance at 

31 Dec 2017

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Land 4,010 - - 4,010 - - - - 4,010 4,010

Buildings 29,964 405 - 30,369 3 1,313 - 1,316 29,961 29,053

Leasehold improvements 4,926 185 - 5,111 1,544 209 - 1,753 3,382 3,358

Computer hardware 4,385 525 (3) 4,907 3,340 567 (3) 3,904 1,045 1,003

Computers (Leased) 618 - - 618 618 - - 618 - -

Electronic equipment 1,427 64 - 1,491 1,242 93 - 1,335 185 156

Electronic equipment (Leased) 27 - - 27 27 - - 27 - -

Furniture and fittings 1,978 122 - 2,100 1,479 101 - 1,580 499 520

Library collection 2,724 99 (1,562) 1,261 2,127 116 (1,562) 681 597 580

Art collection 500 - - 500 - - - - 500 500

Motor vehicles 959 98 (29) 1,028 523 151 (12) 662 436 365

Office equipment 274 8 - 282 253 6 - 259 21 23

Plant and equipment 4,358 402 (5) 4,755 2,889 307 (5) 3,191 1,469 1,564

Work in progress 332 (230) - 102 - - - - 332 102

Total plant and equipment 56,482 1,679 (1,599) 56,562 14,045 2,862 (1,581) 15,326 42,437 41,236
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Breakdown of property, plant and equipment and further information 

Movements for each class of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

2018
Cost / Revaluation Accumulated Depreciation Net Book Value

Balance at  
1 Jan 2018

Additions/ 
reclassifi- 

cations Disposals

Balance at  
31 Dec 

2018
Balance at  

1 Jan 2018 Depreciation

Disposal/ 
elimination on 

revaluation
Balance at 

31 Dec 2018
Balance at  

1 Jan 2018
Balance at 

31 Dec 2018

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Land 4,010 - - 4,010 - - - - 4,010 4,010

Buildings 30,369 82 - 30,451 1,316 1,289 - 2,605 29,053 27,846

Leasehold improvements 5,111 - - 5,111 1,753 263 - 2,016 3,358 3,095

Computer hardware 4,907 154 (2) 5,059 3,904 467 - 4,371 1,003 688

Computers (Leased) 618 - - 618 618 - - 618 - -

Electronic equipment 1,491 69 - 1,560 1,335 80 6 1,421 156 139

Electronic equipment (Leased) 27 - - 27 27 - - 27 - -

Furniture and fittings 2,100 77 (8) 2,169 1,580 94 - 1,674 520 495

Library collection 1,261 37 - 1,298 681 114 - 795 580 503

Art collection 500 - 500 - - - - 500 500

Motor vehicles 1,028 - - 1,028 662 142 - 804 365 223

Office equipment 282 - - 282 259 6 - 265 23 17

Plant and equipment 4,755 91 (14) 4,832 3,191 282 5 3,478 1,564 1,354

Work in progress 102 174 276 - - - - 102 276

Total plant and equipment 56,562 684 (24) 57,222 15,326 2,737 11 18,074 41,236 39,148

Restriction on title 
Under the Education Act 1989, NorthTec is required to obtain consent from the Ministry of Education to dispose or sell off property 
where the value of the property exceeds an amount determined by the Minister.
Detailed information on the asset disposal rules can be found on the Tertiary Education Commission website.

Leasing

The net carrying amount of computers and electronic equipment (included within computer hardware) held under finances leases 
is nil  (2017: nil)

Work in progress

The total amount of property, plant and equipment in the course of construction is $275,560 (2017: $102,117) 
Work in progress by asset class is as follows:

10. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

2018 2017
$000 $000

Building structures 12 45

Computers 5 -

Furniture and fittings 259 17

Library - 2

Motor vehicles - -

Electronic equipment - 36

Plant and equipment - 3

Total work in progress 276 102

Capital commitments 
Capital commitments represent capital expenditure contracted for at balance date but not yet incurred.
The amount of contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment is:

2018 2017
$000 $000

Building structures 11 -

Computer hardware 9 -

Plant and equipment - -

Electronic equipment - 55

Furniture and fittings - -

Total 20 55

Breakdown of property, plant and equipment and further information 

Movements for each class of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

2017
Cost / Revaluation Accumulated Depreciation Net Book Value

Balance at  
1 Jan 2017

Additions/ 
reclassifi- 

cations Disposals

Balance at  
31 Dec 

2017
Balance at  

1 Jan 2017 Depreciation

Disposal/ 
elimination on 

revaluation
Balance at 

31 Dec 2017
Balance at  

1 Jan 2017
Balance at 

31 Dec 2017

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Land 4,010 - - 4,010 - - - - 4,010 4,010

Buildings 29,964 405 - 30,369 3 1,313 - 1,316 29,961 29,053

Leasehold improvements 4,926 185 - 5,111 1,544 209 - 1,753 3,382 3,358

Computer hardware 4,385 525 (3) 4,907 3,340 567 (3) 3,904 1,045 1,003

Computers (Leased) 618 - - 618 618 - - 618 - -

Electronic equipment 1,427 64 - 1,491 1,242 93 - 1,335 185 156

Electronic equipment (Leased) 27 - - 27 27 - - 27 - -

Furniture and fittings 1,978 122 - 2,100 1,479 101 - 1,580 499 520

Library collection 2,724 99 (1,562) 1,261 2,127 116 (1,562) 681 597 580

Art collection 500 - - 500 - - - - 500 500

Motor vehicles 959 98 (29) 1,028 523 151 (12) 662 436 365

Office equipment 274 8 - 282 253 6 - 259 21 23

Plant and equipment 4,358 402 (5) 4,755 2,889 307 (5) 3,191 1,469 1,564

Work in progress 332 (230) - 102 - - - - 332 102

Total plant and equipment 56,482 1,679 (1,599) 56,562 14,045 2,862 (1,581) 15,326 42,437 41,236
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11. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

ACCOUNTING POLICY 
Software acquisition and development 
Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the 
specific software.

Costs that are directly associated with the development of software for internal use, are recognised as an intangible asset. 
Direct costs include the software development employee related costs and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads.

Staff training costs are recognised as an expense when incurred.

Costs associated with maintaining computer software are recognised as an expense when incurred.

Course development costs

Costs that are directly associated with the development of new educational courses are recognised as an intangible asset to 
the extent that such costs are expected to be recovered. The development costs primarily consist of employee costs.

Intellectual property development

Research costs are expensed as incurred in the surplus or deficit.

Development costs that are directly attributable to the design, construction, and testing of pre-production or pre-use 
prototypes and models associated with intellectual property development are recognised as an intangible asset if all the 
following can be demonstrated:

• It is technically feasible to complete the product so that it will be available for use or sale. 
• Management intends to complete the product and use or sell it. 
• There is an ability to use or sell the product. 
• It can be demonstrated how the product will generate probable future economic benefits. 
• Adequate technical, financial, and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the product are 
   available. 
• The expenditure attributable to the product during its development can be reliably measured.

Other development expenses that do not meet these criteria are recognised as an expense as incurred in the surplus or 
deficit. Development costs previously recognised as an expense cannot be subsequently recognised as an asset.

Amortisation

The carrying value of an intangible asset with a finite life is amortised on a straight-line basis over its useful life.
Amortisation begins when the asset is available for use and ceases at the date that the asset is derecognised. The 
amortisation charge for each period is recognised in the surplus or deficit.
The useful lives and associated amortisation rates of major classes of intangible assets have been estimated as follows:
Computer software  3 - 5 years  20% to 33.3%
Course development costs 5 years  20%
Teaching licences  3 - 5 years  20% to 33.3%

Capitalised intellectual property development costs are still work in progress. The useful life of completed projects will be 
established at project completion.
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Breakdown of intangible assets and further information
Movement for each class of intangible asset is as follows:

Software

Course  
development  

costs
Teaching  
licences

Work 
in progress Total

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Balance at 1 January 2018

Cost 1,294 1,318 150 83 2,845

Accumulated amortised and impaired 1,113 1,079 142 - 2,334

Opening carrying amount 181 239 8 83 511

Year ended 31 December 2018

Additions - 211 - - 211

Disposals (5) - - (69) (74)

Amortisation (93) (137) (3) (233)

Closing carrying amount 83 313 5 14 415

Balance at 31 December 2018

Cost 1,289 1,529 150 14 2,982

Accumulated amortisation and impairment 1,206 1,216 145 - 2,567

Closing carrying amount 83 313 5 14 415

Balance at 1 January 2017

Cost 1,387 1,171 150 619 3,327

Accumulated amortised and impairment 1,190 956 139 - 2,285

Opening carrying amount 197 215 11 619 1,042

Year ended 31 December 2017

Additions 83 150 - - 233

Disposals (176) (3) - (536) (715)

Amortisation 77 (123) (3) (49)

Closing carrying amount 181 239 8 83 511
Balance at 31 December 2017

Cost 1,294 1,318 150 83 2,845

Accumulated amortisation and impairment 1,113 1,079 142 - 2,334

Closing carrying amount 181 239 8 83 511

There are no restrictions over the title of NorthTec’s intangible assets. No intangible assets are pledged as security for liabilities.

There were no contractual commitments for the acquisition of intangible assets for the Institute (2017: $nil).

11. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Impairment of intangible assets

Intangible assets subsequently measured at cost that have an indefinite useful life, or are not yet available for use, are not 
subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment.

For further details refer to the policy for impairment of property, plant and equipment in Note 10. The same approach applies 
to the impairment of intangible assets.
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NorthTec holds a 14 per cent share in Tertiary Accord of New Zealand Limited and a 16.67 per cent share in TANZ eCampus Limited.   1,134,103 
ordinary shares in TANZ eCampus Limited issued to NorthTec, and fully paid as at 31 December 2018  at $1.00 per share (2017:  $759,743.  374,360 
shares remain uncalled). 

NorthTec has a 25 per cent share ($0 fair value) in Motortrain as at 31 December 2018. Motortrain is jointly an Associate of the Wellington Institute 
of Technology, Waikato Institute of Technology, NorthTec and Southern Institute of Technology. NorthTec has contributed  $7,169.84 to Motortrain 
in 2018 (2017: $23,673).

The assets of Artena Society Limited (formerly A-Plus Society) were divided with NorthTec receiving final distribution dividend income in 2017 of 
$41,558.  NorthTec previously held one share at $2.00 fair value. No expenses were paid to Student Management Software Solutions (related to 
A-Plus Society) in 2018 (2017: $nil). There were no accounts payable or accounts receivable balances at year end.

12. INVESTMENTS IN OTHER ENTITIES

ACCOUNTING POLICY 
Associate 
An associate is an entity over which the Institute has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate 
in the financial and operating policy decisions of another entity but is not control or joint control of those policies.  The 
Institute’s associate investment is accounted for in the financial statements using the equity method. The investment in an 
associate is initially recognised at cost and the carrying amount is increased or decreased to recognise the group’s share 
of the change in net assets of the associate after the date of acquisition. The Institute’s share of the associate’s surplus 
or deficit is recognised in the Institute’s surplus or deficit. Distributions received from an associate reduce the carrying 
amount of the investment in the group financial statements.  Adjustments to the carrying amount also include changes in the 
Institute’s proportionate interest in the associate arising from changes in its other comprehensive revenue and expense. The 
Institute, along with five other Polytechnics have equal shareholding in the company. This investment has been determined 
to be an investment in an associate because of the Institute’s membership on the Board of TANZ eCampus Limited, and the 
ability to participate in the financial and operating policy decision of TANZ eCampus Limited. The Institute have reinstated 
the prior year comparative figures (both notes and values) to reflect the change in accounting policy. This is in accordance 
with IPSAS 3, para 27.

Joint Venture 
Investments in jointly controlled entities are carried at cost in NorthTec’s parent entity financial statements.

Investments in other entities
Shares
Unlisted shares are held in non-commercial entities and are carried at cost because 
• fair value cannot be reliably determined using a standardised valuation technique; or 
• the cost is not materially different to fair value.
There is currently no intention to dispose of these investments.

Institute
2018 2017
$000 $000

Investment in TANZ eCampus Limited  1,209  756 

Summarised financial information of associate presented on a gross basis

Assets  8,107  6,954 

Liabilities (853) (2,417) 

Revenues  5,795  2,540 

Surplus/(Deficit) 472 (22)

Institute's interest 16.67% 16.67%
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13. PAYABLES

ACCOUNTING POLICY 
Short-term creditors and other short-term payables are recorded at the amount payable.

Breakdown of payables and further information
2018 2017
$000 $000

Payables under exchange transactions
Creditors  1,337  1,772 
Accrued expenses  834  728 
Total payables under exchange transactions  2,171  2,500 

Payables under non-exchange transactions
Taxes payable (e.g. GST, FBT and rates)  792  1,015 

Total payable  2,963  3,515 

Payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms. Therefore, the carrying value of payables approximates their fair value.

14. DEFERRED REVENUE

Breakdown of deferred revenue and further information
2018 2017
$000 $000

Tuition fees  5,950  4,767 
Other revenue received in advance  76  220 

Total deferred revenue  6,026  4,987 

Further information about deferred revenue items

Deferred revenue from tuition fees includes both liabilities recognised for domestic student fees received for which the course withdrawal date has 
not yet passed. International student fee recognition is based on the percentage completion of the course.
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Breakdown of employee entitlements
2018 2017
$000 $000

Current portion

Accrued pay  642  462 

Long service leave  2  7 

Annual leave  1,063  1,004 

Total current portion 1,706 1,473 

Non-current portion

Long service leave 15 14 

Total non-current portion 15 14 

Total employee entitlements 1,721 1,487 

15. EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS

ACCOUNTING POLICY 
Short-term employee entitlements

Employee benefits that are due to be settled within 12 months after the end of the year in which the employee renders the 
related service are measured at nominal values based on accrued entitlements at current rates of pay.

These include salaries and wages accrued up to balance date, annual leave earned to, but not yet taken, at balance date, 
and sick leave.

A liability for sick leave is recognised to the extent that absences in the coming year are expected to be greater than the sick 
leave entitlements earned in the coming year. The amount is calculated based on the unused sick leave entitlement that can 
be carried forward at balance date to the extent it will be used by staff to cover those future absences.

A liability and an expense are recognised for bonuses where there is a contractual obligation or where there is a past practice 
that has created a constructive obligation.

Long-term employee entitlements 

Employee benefits that are due to be settled beyond 12 months after the end of the year in which the employee renders the 
related service, such as long service leave, have been calculated based on:

• likely future entitlements accruing to staff based on years of service, years to entitlement, the likelihood that 
   staff will reach the point of entitlement, and contractual entitlement information; and

• the present value of the estimated future cash flows.

Presentation of employee entitlements

Sick leave, annual leave, and vested long service leave are classified as a current liability. Non-vested long service leave and 
retirement gratuities expected to be settled within 12 months of balance date are classified as a current liability.  All other 
employee entitlements are classified as a non-current liability.
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2018 2017
$000 $000

General funds
Balance at 1 January 28,049 31,371
Transfer from revaluation reserve
Adj for change in accounting policy 34
Surplus/(deficit) for the year (3,768) (3,356)
Balance 31 December 24,281 28,049

Property revaluation reserves
Balance at 1 January 21,666 21,679
Land net revaluation gains
Buildings net revaluation gains (13)
Plant and equipment transfer to general funds
Balance at 31 December 21,666 21,666

Property revaluation reserves consist of:
Land 4,189 4,189
Buildings 17,477 17,477
Plant and equipment
Total property revaluation reserves 21,666 21,666

Restricted reserves
Balance at 1 January 81 81
Transfer from surplus
Application of reserve funds

Balance at 31 December 81 81

Total equity 46,028 49,796

16. EQUITY

ACCOUNTING POLICY 
Equity is measured as the difference between total assets and total liabilities. Equity is disaggregated and classified into the 
following components: 
• General funds 
• Property revaluation reserves 
• Restricted reserves.

Property revaluation reserves 
These reserves relate to the revaluation of land and buildings to fair value.

Restricted reserves 
Restricted reserves are a component of equity generally representing a particular use to which various parts of equity have 
been assigned. Reserves may be legally restricted or created by NorthTec. Transfers from these reserves may be made only 
for certain specified purposes or when certain specified conditions are met.

Capital management

NorthTec’s capital is its equity, which comprises general funds and reserves. Equity is represented by net assets. 

NorthTec is subject to the financial management and accountability provisions of the Education Act 1989, which includes restrictions in relation to: 

disposing of assets or interests in assets, ability to mortgage or otherwise charge assets or interests in assets, granting leases of land or buildings or 

parts of buildings, and borrowing.

NorthTec manages its revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities, investments, and general financial dealings prudently and in a manner that promotes the 

current and future interests of the community. NorthTec’s equity is largely managed as a by-product of managing revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities, 

investments, and general financial dealings.

The objective of managing NorthTec’s equity is to ensure that it effectively and efficiently achieves the goals and objectives for which it has been 

established, while remaining a going concern.
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A provision is recognised for future expenditure of uncertain amount or timing when: 
•      there is a present obligation (either legal or constructive) as a result of a past event; 
•      it is probably that an outflow of future economic benefits or service potential will be required to settle the obligation; and 
•      a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Provisions are measure at the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation.

17. PROVISIONS

Related party disclosures have not been made for transactions with related parties that are:

• within a normal supplier or client/recipient relationship; and
• on terms and conditions no more or less favourable than those that are reasonable to expect that NorthTec would have adopted 

in dealing with the party at arm’s length in the same circumstances. 

Further, transactions with Government agencies (for example, Government departments and Crown entities) are not disclosed as 
related party transactions when they are consistent with the normal operating arrangements with TEIs and undertaken on the normal 
terms and conditions for such transactions.

Related party transactions required to be disclosed

Related party transactions required to be disclosed is $1,182,805 (2017: $1,506,243)

TANZ eCampus Limited, in conjunction with the Tertiary Accord of New Zealand (TANZ), have been developing an eCampus platform, 
associated infrastructure and programmes. From January 2015 to February 2017 NorthTec has held their share of the associated 
intangible assets.

Sale and Purchase Agreements were executed to sell NorthTec’s share of the assets in exchange for shares. The transactions were 
completed in two stages, the first stage on 3 February 2017 and the final on 22 December 2017. In total, intangible assets valued 
at $759,743, representing the cost of development, transferred to the Company in exchange for 759,743 of shares. The GST 
associated with transactions is settled in cash. As at 31 December 2018 nil (2017: $329,161) is held as a debtor in association with 
the transactions. On 22 December 2017, NorthTec executed a Share Subscription Agreement for the issue of a further 374,260 
shares for a subscription price of $374,260. The shares are payable in instalments and settled in cash. As at 31 December 2017 
no call had been made on the shares. A first call was made on the shares on 15 January 2018. NorthTec also enters into other 
transactions with the Company in the normal course of business. This includes shareholders levies, and purchase of a range of 
services.

During the financial period to 31 December 2018, NorthTec had the following transactions with TANZ eCampus Limited:

18. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

2018 2017

Shareholder levies  -  405,171 

Purchase services  684,257  12,168 

Purchase intangible assets  -  759,743 

Call on shares  187,130 

Receivables at 31 December  -  329,161 

Payables at 31 December  107,907 

Total Related Party TANZ eCampus Ltd Transactions 979,294 1,506,243 

Breakdown of provisions 2018 2017
Current portion

General provision  1,109  1,109 

Restructuring provision  -  635 

Total provisions  1,109  1,744 
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Key management personnel compensation 2018 2017
Council members

Full-time equivalent members  8.0  8.0 

Remuneration $133,200 $145,797

Executive Management Team, including the Chief Executive

Full-time equivalent members  5.1  6.0 

Remuneration $982,439 $1,361,673

Full-time equivalent members  13.1  14.0 

Total key management personnel compensation $1,115,639 $1,507,470

The full-time equivalent for Council members has been determined based on the frequency and length of Council meetings and the estimated 
time for members to prepare for meetings.

An analysis of Council member remuneration is provided in Note 4.

Subsequent events - uncertainties about the Government’s proposal to merge polytechnics and technology institutes into a 
single entity.

In February 2019, the Government released a proposal which if implemented would merge the activities of all 16 polytechnics and 
institutes of technology into a single entity responsible for the delivery of tertiary vocational education in New Zealand. 

The proposal is subject to public consultation, which is expected to be completed on 5th April 2019. It is expected that the 
Government will make its decision on the merger of all polytechnics and institutes of technology after this date. 

Should the merger proceed, it could have a significant impact on the future of NorthTec. However, because the Government is yet 
to make a decision on the merger, it is not clear what that impact, if any, would be on NorthTec. As a result, the financial statements 
continue to be prepared using the going concern basis of accounting.

19. EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE DATE

18. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

20A   Financial instruments categories
The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities in each of the financial instrument categories are as follows:

20. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets
2018 2017
$000 $000

Loans and receivables

Cash and cash equivalents  3,684  6,166 

Receivables  3,161  3,221 

Other financial assets:

  Term deposits  10,000  9,263 

Total loans and receivables  16,845  18,650 

Financial liabilities
2018 2017
$000 $000

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Payables  2,964  3,516 

Total financial liabilities at amortised cost  2,964  3,516 
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20B   Financial instruments risk
NorthTec's activities expose it to a variety of financial instrument risks including market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. 
NorthTec has a series of policies to manage the risks associated with financial instruments. It is risk averse and seeks to 
minimise exposure from its treasury activities. These policies do not allow any transactions which are speculative in nature to be 
entered into.

Market risk

Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign 
exchange rates.

NorthTec purchases library items from overseas which exposes it to currency risk.

Fair value interest rate risk

Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest 
rates. Borrowings and investments issued at fixed rates of interest create exposure to fair value interest rate risk. NorthTec does 
not actively manage its exposure to fair value interest rate risk.

Cash flow interest rate risk

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the cash flows from a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 
interest rates. Borrowings and investments issued at variable interest rates create exposure to cash flow interest rate risk.

20. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
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20. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

20B   Financial instruments risk (continued)
Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a third party will default on its obligation to NorthTec, causing it to incur a loss. Due to the timing of its 
cash inflows and outflows, surplus cash is invested into term deposits, which give rise to credit risk.

In the normal course of business, NorthTec is exposed to credit risk from cash and term deposits with banks, and receivables. For 
each of these, the maximum credit exposure is best represented by the carrying amount in the statement of financial position.

NorthTec invests funds only with registered banks that have a Standard and Poor’s credit rating of AA, and other financial 
institutions approved by NorthTec Council as having the required credit rating, and further minimises its credit exposure by 
limiting the amounts placed with any one institution at any one time.

NorthTec holds no collateral or other credit enhancement for financial instruments that give rise to credit risk.

Credit quality of financial assets

The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to Standard and Poor’s 
credit ratings (if available) or to historical information about counter-party default rates:

2018 2017
 Counter-parties with credit ratings $000 $000

Cash at bank and term deposits
AA
AA-  13,684  15,429 

Total cash at bank and term deposits  13,684  15,429 

Counter-parties without credit ratings

Receivables
Existing counter-party with no default in the past  3,161  3,221 
Total debtors and other receivables  3,161  3,221 

Liquidity risk

Management of liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that NorthTec will encounter difficulty raising liquid funds to meet commitments as they fall due. 
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash, the availability of funding through an adequate amount 
of committed credit facilities, and the ability to close out market positions. NorthTec aims to maintain flexibility in funding by 
keeping committed credit lines available.

NorthTec manages liquidity risk by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flow requirements and matching the 
maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.
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20B   Financial instruments risk (continued)

Contractual maturity analysis of financial liabilities, excluding derivatives

The table below analyses financial liabilities (excluding derivatives) into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining 
period at balance date to the contractual maturity date. Future interest payments on floating rate debt are based on the floating 
rate on the instrument at balance date. The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

2018
Payables Employee 

entitlements Total

$000 $000 $000

Carrying amount 2,963 642 3,605
Contractual cash flows 2,963 642 3,605 
Less than 6 months 2,963 642 3,605 
6 - 12 months - - - 
1 - 2 years - - - 
2 - 3 years - - - 
More than 3 years - - - 

2017
Payables Employee 

entitlements Total

$000 $000 $000

Carrying amount 3,515 462 3,977 
Contractual cash flows 3,515 462 3,977 
Less than 6 months 3,515 462 3,977 
6 - 12 months - - - 
1 - 2 years - - - 
2 - 3 years - - - 
More than 3 years - - - 

Sensitivity analysis

The table below illustrates the potential effect on the surplus or deficit and equity (excluding general funds) for reasonably 
possible market movements, with all other variables held constant, based on financial instruments exposures at balance date.

Interest rate risk 

     2018
     $000

    2017
    $000

-50bps
Surplus

+150bps
Surplus

-50bps
Surplus

+150bps
Surplus

Cash and cash equivalents (18) 55 (31) 92
Total sensitivity (18) 55 (31) 92

Explanation of interest rate risk sensitivity

The interest rate sensitivity is based on a reasonable possible movement in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, measured as a basis 

points (bps) movement. For example, a decrease in 50 bps is equivalent to a decrease in interest rates of 0.5 per cent.

21.  CONTINGENCIES
NorthTec has a contingent liability in the form of a counterclaim against invoices issued by a supplier. This is unresolved as at 
balance date. NorthTec has no contingent assets.
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22.  EXPLANATION OF MAJOR VARIANCES AGAINST  
        BUDGET
Explanations for major variations against the budget information at the start of the financial year are as follows:

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE REVENUE AND EXPENSES

Tuition fees

Tuition fees were $0.05 million above budget. Overall international student numbers were over budget and this was reflected 
in the $0.36 million over budget in international fees. There was a $0.31 million shortfall in domestic fees as a consequence of 
lower domestic student numbers and delivered product mix, with higher fee programmes not meeting budget. 

Personnel costs

Personnel costs were $1.3 million higher than budget. A substantial organisational restructure was completed in December 2017 
which incurred $0.94 million for staff departures in 2018, with remaining additional costs across academic and general salaries 
and wages being partly impacted by utilisation of contractors for vacant positions during the 2018 year.

Other expenses

Other expenses were $0.8 million above budget primarily being attributable to higher programme delivery costs of $1.2 million, 
$0.2 million higher legal and consultants costs, and $0.2 million higher impairment costs. These were partially offset by $0.5 
million lower property related costs for leases, occupancy and repairs and maintenance, advertising and public relations were 
also $0.2 million lower than budget.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
Cash and cash equivalents, and other financial assets 

Cash and cash equivalents were $1.25 million higher than budget, however this is offset by Other financial assets which are $2.0 
million lower than budget.

Receivables 

Receivables were $0.7 million higher than budget which is attributable to the 2018 student invoicing for 2019 programmes.

Payables

Payables were $0.4 million higher than budget attributable to higher 3rd party programme delivery payables than budgeted.

Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue was $1.0 million higher than budget due to international students paying earlier for programmes to allow for 
extended visa processing timeframes and the 2018 invoicing for international and domestic 2019 programmes.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Receipts from government grants and tuition fees

As reflected in the Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expenses, receipts from government grants and tuition fees were 
$1.25 million higher than budget.  This overachievement was due to revenue being over budget and additional funds being 
received from international students. 

Payments to employees

Payments to employees were $1.7 million over budget as reflected in the additional personnel costs in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Revenue and Expenses.
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Equal Employment Opportunities 

Northland Polytechnic strives to celebrate equity and diversity in our workforce through the creation of an inclusive workplace culture that celebrates 
our people’s unique backgrounds, qualities and contributions, and in which all individuals are supported towards achieving their full potential. We 
recognise that members of equity groups are more likely than others to experience barriers to achieving their full potential. Northland Polytechnic will 
prioritise support for members of identified equity groups. NorthTec also recognises Māori as tangata whenua and is committed to upholding Te Tiriti o 
Waitangi. Māori individuals have a distinct status at Northland Polytechnic under the provisions of the Treaty.

Northland Polytechnic fosters an environment that is based on individual merit, where all employees can develop their full potential, irrespective of 
their background or characteristics. As an Equal Employment Opportunity (EEO) employer, Northland Polytechnic works to eliminate all barriers that 
cause or perpetuate inequality in employment through the promotion of equal employment opportunities in recruitment, employment, performance 
management, and training and promotion practices. During 2018 a couple of key initiatives were undertaken, including: 

1.  Revising employment agreements to ensure the organisation is meeting its obligations around employment law changes.

2.  Reviewing recruitment processes to ensure the organisation is meeting diversity requirements. 

Student Equity Statement 
A strong culture of collaboration between the support services and, with ākonga (learners), with tutors and services across the organisation, to support 
ākonga (learner) achievement, is embedded in the newly transformed centralised ākonga support services (Te Ara Poutama- Student Support Services- 
Library and Academic Team, Health Team and Navigator Team, December 2018). Ākonga speak highly of the exemplary manaaki (compassion and care) 
provided by Academic support and Library support and resources. Highly skilled staff who are strongly ākonga-centred in their practice are providing 
quality support to learners and tutors to encourage class attendance, complete assessments and assignments, address social barriers, support our 
youth, navigate institution systems and processes (internal and external), feel well, healthy and safe and to receive timely support that is respectful and 
accurate.  

The student success advisors/navigators provided 1,543 support sessions. Our nurses provided 2,632 consultations and Vitae provided 193 counselling 
sessions to ākonga throughout Te Tai Tokerau- Kaitaia, Kaikohe, Dargaville and Whangārei and Tamaki Makau-rau- Auckland. Ākonga aged between 16 -25 
were the highest users in 2018. 

The Library support provided in 2018 included copyright licensing, information literacy, excellent customer services, Māori collection and general 
collections, nter-loans, hardcopy books, research support to degree programmes, access to e- books, eTV, Sky TV, online chat, a study space, a computer 
suite, printers, laptop loans and access to online resources and academic advisors and manager-attended programme moderations. Library resources are 
also provided at the Future Trades Campus and Kensington - ASB Stadium and available to all ākonga enrolled at NorthTec.

EQUITY STATEMENT 
MANA TAURITE

STAFF MĀORI
24%  2018
23% 2017
22% 2016

STAFF FEMALE
55.0%  2018
55.0% 2017
53.7% 2016
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Compulsory Student Service Fees
In 2018 NorthTec charged a compulsory student services fee of $200 per Equivalent Full Time Student (domestic fee-paying students only 
- excluding online and Auckland based students). Accounting requirements for Compulsory Student Service Fees and Expenditure NorthTec 

accounts separately for the revenue and expenditure related to the compulsory student services fee. 

Student Services Activities
2018 Income 2018 % of Income 2018 Expenditure

2018  
% of Expenditure

Advocacy 51,455 31% 85,902 31%

Careers, information, advice and guidance 408 0% 681 0%

Counselling services 16,219 10% 27,076 10%

Employment information - 0% 0 0%

Financial support and advice 292 0% 488 0%

Health services 83,140 51% 138,798 51%

Media 1,326 1% 2,213 1%

Childcare services - 0% 0 0%

Clubs and societies 6,738 4% 11,249 4%

Sports, recreation and cultural activities 4,700 3% 7,847 3%

Total Student Services Activities 164,278 100% 274,254 100%
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Key initiatives and services in 2018 included: 

• Student Voice team of a Student Voice Coordinator and a 
Kaiawhina. Twleve students committed to being a part of the 
transition team (student rep group), representing certificate 
to degree programmes and regional campuses.

• Off-site student led Orientation social events. 
• Hardship initiatives Aroha mai, aroha atu can drive in 

Raumanga and Kaikohe campus. 

Advocacy
Student Voice provide advocacy support for students by promoting 
student representation and training to share collaborative ideas and 
feedback on behalf of their classes/programmes while providing 
access for student voice at all levels of the organisation where 
relevant. In addition promoting student leadership by providing 
resources and relevant training, Te Matatau Leadership Training.

Counselling Services 
All students have access to a free counselling service accessible by 
online self-referral or through staff and Health Centre. 

Health Services
The Student Health Centre, based at Raumanga campus, is staffed 
by two experienced Registered Nurses who offer a comprehensive 
range of professional and confidential health services. Scheduled 
services are also provided at Dyer Street and Kensington with 
phone and online support provided to regional students.

We work on initiatives and activities to bring our students and staff 
together to celebrate achievement, diversity and uniqueness, as 
well to support and encourage one another to continue to strive for 
success. Events include student celebration events, 85 Whānau 
Days, Hauora Days, Kai tahi, Chinese New Year, Diwali (the Indian 
Festival of lights), Matariki (Māori New Year), Te Wiki O Te Reo 
Māori (Māori Language week) and health awareness promotions. 

These are initiated with whanaungatanga and manaakitanga 
at heart, and provide places and spaces for relationships to be 
developed through shared experiences and working together, 
providing staff and students with a sense of belonging and 
connectedness which is key to educational success.   

Media
Student Voice use a range of media to communicate and promote 
student centric events and important notifications such has social 
media, published posters, radio and merchandise. 

Clubs and Societies 
Student Voice delivered a number of events focused on improving 
the student experience, engaging students to obtain feedback of 
services and experiences and improving culture on campus through 
events encouraging whanaungatanga. 

External clubs and societies are given the opportunity to promote 
their service during Orientation and events held through the year. 

Sports, Recreation and Cultural Activities 
Through Student Voice we supported student study wānanga, 
mentoring and student attendance at National Hui and 
conferences. Activities are scheduled throughout the year are 
designed to engage and support students, these include but not 
exclusive to: Kai and Catch up, Aroha mai, Aroha atu – Hardship 
initiative, Spring it on, feedback events, Smoke free campus events, 
Te wiki o te reo Māori.
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Authored Book 1 1

Chapter in Book 1 1

Conference Contribution - Other 6 6 4 2 18

Conference Contribution -  Published 1 1

Creative Work 25 1 26

Discussion Working Paper 1 1

Journal Article 1 11 11 23

Oral Presentation 2 4 3 1 12 22

Other Form of Assessable Output 1 4 3 1 9

Report 2 2 4

Thesis 2 2

TOTAL 11 6 32 26 30 3 108

2018 Summary of Research Outputs

RESEARCH 
OUTPUTS 2018
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Research Outputs 2018

AUTHORED BOOK
Alexander-Crawford, P., Sutton, N., Sutton, D., & Duncan, D. (2018). 

Commercial law in New Zealand business. Wellington, New 

Zealand: Thomson Reuters New Zealand.

CHAPTER IN BOOK
Martinez, E., & Peters, C. H. (2018). Gender bias and marine 

mammal tourism research. In B. A. Porter & H. A. Schanzel (Eds.), 

Femininities in the field: Tourism and transdisciplinary research 

(pp. 109–125). Bristol, England: Channel View Publications.

CONFERENCE CONTRIBUTION – OTHER
Ball, O., & Whaley, P. (2018, November 25-29). Habitat preferences 

of landhoppers (Crustacea: Talitridae): Perspectives from Te Paki. 

Poster session presented at the New Zealand Ecological Society 

Conference, Wellington, New Zealand. 

Briscoe, J. (2018, May 1-4). Supporting Māori new graduate nurses 

into employment. Paper presented at the National Nurse 

Education Conference (NNEC), Melbourne, Australia.

Bruce-Iri, P. (2018, June 8-9). Gearing up for drawdown in Te Tai 

Tokerau. Paper presented at Te Tai Tokerau Climate Change 

Conference, Whangārei, New Zealand.

Christian, L. (2018, September 18-21). Building resilience through 

spiritual preparation of undergraduate nurses. Paper presented 

at the 23rd Hospice New Zealand Palliative Care Conference, 

Auckland, New Zealand.

Cook, T., Pohe, S., & Ball, O. (2018, December 10-14). Effect of cattle 

exclusion on black mudfish (Neochanna diversus) and Gambusia 

affinis in Wairua River Wildlife Management Reserve, Northland, 

New Zealand. Poster session presented at the New Zealand 

Freshwater Sciences Society 50th Annual Conference, Nelson, 

New Zealand. 

Dyer, C. L., & Taylor, J. D. (2018, October 15-16). Technology and 

people - the retention alliance. Paper presented at the ATEM 

Admissions Conference, Auckland, New Zealand.

Fiori, L., Martinez, E., Orams, M. B., & Breen, B. (2018, April 6-10). 

Assessing the effects of humpback whale-based tourism in Vava’u, 

Kingdom of Tonga: Behavioral responses of whales to vessels 

and in-water tourism activities. Paper presented at the 32nd 

Conference of the European Cetacean Society, La Spezia, Italy.

Hewagama, G. V., & Goodale, U. M. (2018, June 8-9). Forest and 

carbon accounting for the sustainable management of forestry 

and silvopastural systems, and their mitigation and adaptation 

to climate change. Paper presented at Te Tai Tokerau Climate 

Change Conference, Whangārei, New Zealand. Retrieved from 

https://northlandclimate.files.wordpress.com/2018/06/forest-

and-carbon-accounting.pdf

Langley, J. (2018, December 7). Some thoughts about educational 

reform in a small island state…Aotearoa New Zealand. Paper 

and Keynote Address presented at The 3rd Island Economic 

Development and International Cooperation Forum, Haikou, 

China.

 Morgan, D. K. J., Ball, O. J. -P., Arcus, A., Gash, D., Cook, T., & 

Gillanders, J. (2018, June 1-5). Changes in species composition 

across an urban-forest gradient. Paper presented at the 2018 

New Zealand Bird Conference and 79th Birds New Zealand AGM, 

Waitangi, New Zealand.

Neeley, E. A. (2018, June 8-9). Grassroots leadership and climate 

change. Paper presented at Te Tai Tokerau Climate Change 

Conference, Whangārei, New Zealand.

Scobie, N., Mackay, B., & Broodkorn, M. (2018, May 1-4). Developing 

shared expectations of graduate registered nurse skills through 

collaboration between industry and education. Paper presented 

at the National Nurse Education Conference (NNEC), Melbourne, 

Australia.

Sperlich, W., Chada, S., & Warring, S. (2018, January). Online 

resources: Pros and cons for TESOL and Business courses 

at NorthTec. Paper presented at the Centre for Research in 

International Education (CRIE) Conference, Auckland, New 

Zealand.

Tagiilima, J., & Rotimi, F. E. (2018, September 26-28). Analysing 

building compliance reports: A New Zealand study. Paper 

presented at the 42nd Australasian Universities Building 

Education Association (AUBEA) Conference, Singapore, 

Singapore.

Taylor, J. D., & Goh, B. (2018, May 22-23). Artena – one stop 

graduation shop: Adding value to SMS. Paper presented at the 

Adapit IT Conference, Wellington, New Zealand.

Torre-Williams, L., Reinke, J., Meynecke, J. O., Martinez, E., & 

Stockin, K. A. (2018, November 2-4). Humpback whales calving 

during migration - an extension to known calving grounds? A case 

study from the Gold Coast Bay, Queensland, Australia. Poster 

session presented at the 16th International Conference of the 

American Cetacean Society, Newport Beach, CA.
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Torre-Williams, L., Reinke, J., Meynecke, J. O., Martinez, E., & 

Stockin, K. A. (2018, July 1-5). Newborn humpback whale 

(Megaptera novaeangliae) observations in the Gold Coast 

Bay, Queensland, Australia. Poster session presented at the 

Australian Marine Sciences Association Conference, Adelaide, 

Australia.

Williamson, Z. (2018, May 1-4). Promoting the use of the SOAP(IE) 

framework in practice: A collaborative project. Poster session 

presented at the National Nurse Education Conference (NNEC), 

Melbourne, Australia.

CONFERENCE CONTRIBUTION – PUBLISHED
Tagiilima, J., & Rotimi, F. E. (2018, September). Analysing building 

compliance reports: A New Zealand study. In K. Do, M. 

Sutrisna, A. Hammad & C. Ramanayaka (Eds.), Proceedings 

of the 42nd AUBEA Conference 2018: Educating building 

professionals for the future in the globalised world: Technology, 

Volume 2 (pp. 38-47).  Perth, Australia: Curtain University. 

Retrieved from https://docs.wixstatic.com/ugd/94be57_

a1986413edcf4b18aec5aab332b8883b.pdf

CREATIVE WORK
Beran, G. (2018). The present perfect [14 works, photochemical 

drawings]. In The present perfect.  Whangārei, New Zealand: 

Megan Dickinson Gallery, 10 May–9 Jun 2018.

Clunie, L. (2012). Untitled [Archival inkjet print]. In Art to go. 

Whangārei, New Zealand: Megan Dickinson Gallery, 23 Nov–29 

Dec 2018.

Clunie, L. (2014). Fold I [Unique silver gelatin photogram]; Fold II 

[Unique silver gelatin photogram]; Fold IV [Unique silver gelatin 

photogram]. In Antipodean emanations: Cameraless photographs 

from Australia and New Zealand. Melbourne, Australia: Monash 

Gallery of Art, 10 Mar–27 May 2018.

Clunie, L. (2018). The ghosts I called I [Chalk on paper]; The 

ghosts I called II [Chalk on paper]. In Reckless abandonment. 

Whangārei, New Zealand: Megan Dickinson Gallery, 1 Apr–30 

Apr 2018.

Clunie, L. (2018). Habitat I [Unique silver gelatin photogram]. In 

Kaitiaki. Whangārei, New Zealand: Yvonne Rust Gallery, 24 

May–5 Jun 2018.

Clunie, L. (2018). Untitled (a long way we have come) [Unique silver 

gelatin photogram]; Untitled (a long way we have yet to go) 

[Unique silver gelatin photogram]. In Trailblazing. Whangārei, 

New Zealand: Megan Dickinson Gallery, 20 Sep–20 Oct 2018.

Clunie, L. (2018). Untitled (beetroot) [Ink on paper]; Untitled 

(cauliflower) [Ink on paper]; Untitled (lettuce) [Ink on paper]; 

Untitled (taewa) [Ink on paper]. In Food for thought. Whangārei, 

New Zealand: Geoff Wilson Gallery, 19 Feb–12 Apr 2018.

Gibbs, M. (2018). My kitchen [48 works, Graphic on cardboard, 

dimensions variable]. In Food for thought. Whangārei, New 

Zealand: Geoff Wilson Gallery, 19 Feb–12 Apr 2018.

King, L. (2018). Aho & oha [Linen and thread]. In X-Marks: 

Conversations in Cloth. Waitangi, New Zealand: Te Kōngahu 

Museum of Waitangi Exhibition Gallery, Oct 2018.

King, L. (2018). Mangaiti [Acrylic on canvas]. In Toi Ngāpuhi Māori 

Arts Exhibition - Ngāpuhi Festival. Whangārei, New Zealand: Toll 

Stadium, 25 Jan-27 Jan 2018.

McManus, F. (2016). Te kohu – The fog [Woodcut/monotype]; Te 

whare ki o kapua – The house of clouds [Woodcut/monotype]. 

In Seven women / Wahine e whitu. Takapuna, New Zealand: Lake 

House Arts Centre, 2 Jul–22 July 2018.

McManus, F. (2016). The river series [Woodcut/monotype]. In Toi 

Ngāpuhi Māori Arts Exhibition - Ngāpuhi Festival. Whangārei, 

New Zealand: Toll Stadium, 25 Jan-27 Jan 2018.

McManus, F. (2017). Completing the triangle [Woodcut]. In 

Indigenous mapping : Collecting truths. Laramie, WY: University 

of Wyoming Art Museum, 4 Sep 2018–23 Mar 2019.

McManus, F. (2018). Mahere whetū / To chart, to map [Woodcut on 

harakeke paper]; Na Tupaia te mahere o Kuki -  From Tupaia the 

map to Cook [Laser wood engraving]; Te ara whetū o te moana 

nui a kiwa [Woodcut and laser wood engraving]; Whakamahere 

/ Star chart [Woodcut on harakeke paper]. In Tuia toi whakaata. 

Russell, New Zealand: Russell Museum, 15 Dec 2018–24 Mar 

2019.

McManus, F. (2018). Murmur [Woodcut/monotype]. In Distant 

notion. Laramie, WY: ArtConnect Gallery, 3 Oct–6 Oct 2018.

McManus, F. (2018). Pono, pono, pono [Woodcut/monotype]; 

Tupuna [Woodcut/monotype]. In Hae Haea. Stratford, New 

Zealand: Percy Thompson Gallery, 2 Feb–24 Feb 2018.

McManus, F. (2018). Sweet food [Print installation]. In Food for 

thought. Whangārei, New Zealand: Geoff Wilson Gallery, 19 

Feb–12 Apr 2018.

McManus, F., & Sarich, D. (2018). Te Ara [Digital design for 60 

metre mural]. Kamo-Whangārei shared pathway. Whangārei, 

New Zealand: Whangārei District Council, Dec 2018.  

Morgan, J. (2018). Bloom burst [Framed digital print]. In Art to Go. 

Whangārei, New Zealand: Megan Dickinson Gallery, 23 Nov–29 

Dec 2018.
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Research Outputs 2018 continued ...

Morgan, J. (2018). Lotus [Framed digital print]; Lotus blossom 

[Framed digital print]. In Trailblazing. Whangārei, New Zealand: 

Megan Dickinson Gallery, 20 Sep–20 Oct 2018.

Morgan, J. (2018). The tube [Medical tube]; Line change [Archival 

digital print]; Infusing [Archival digital print]; Feed [Archival 

digital print]. In Food for thought. Whangārei, New Zealand: 

Geoff Wilson Gallery, 19 Feb–12 Apr 2018. 

Smith, E. (2018). An attempt to work it out [Hand constructed 

photobook, 24 pages printed on archival paper with dustcover]. 

In Australia & New Zealand Photobook Award, Wellington, New 

Zealand, Dec 2018.

Smith, E. (2018). Cremation series (I-X) [Archival digital prints]. 

In Reckless abandonment. Whangārei, New Zealand: Megan 

Dickinson Gallery, 1 Apr-30 Apr 2018.

Smith, E. (2018). Kawakawa wreath [Original image - unique 

silver gelatin photogram print]; Working it out – collected 

flowers [Archival digital print]; Working it out – shovel in the 

garage 2/5 [Archival digital print from negative]; Working it 

out – wheelbarrow in the orchard 2/5 [Archival digital print 

from negative].  In PhotoForum Members’ Show. Auckland, New 

Zealand: Studio 541, 11 Apr-6 May 2018.

Smith, E. (2018). Scenes from the bottom of my fridge (I-VIII) 

[Archival digital prints]. In Food for thought. Whangārei, New 

Zealand: Geoff Wilson Gallery, 19 Feb-12 Apr 2018.

Smith, E. (2018). Woman of the wind - a memorial to women on a 

plate [Poster print]. In Trailblazing. Whangārei, New Zealand: 

Megan Dickinson Gallery, 20 Sep-20 Oct 2018.

DISCUSSION/ WORKING PAPER
Bruce-Iri, P. (2018, November). Soil carbon sequestration - a 

contested space in science. A discussion paper. Retrieved from 

https://northlandclimate.files.wordpress.com/2018/12/Soil-

Carbon-Sequestration-narrative-v5-final.pdf

JOURNAL ARTICLE
Al-Sa’di, A., Parry, D., & Carter, P. D. (2018). User interface 

preferences of young Jordanians using tablet devices. 

International Journal of Technology Enhanced Learning, 10(3), 

202-217.

Alkhaldi, A., & Al-Sa’di, A. (2018). Gender differences in user 

satisfaction of mobile touch screen interfaces: University 

students’ service sites. International Journal of Innovation 

and Technology Management, 15(6).  Retrieved from https://

www.researchgate.net/publication/325299672_Gender_

Differences_in_User_Satisfaction_of_Mobile_Touch_Screen_

Interfaces_University_Students’_Service_Sites

Barton, P. (2018). The elephant in the room: Nursing and Māori 

health disparity. Kai Tiaki Nursing New Zealand, 24(4), 17-19.

Getz, P. (2018). Māori suicide rates - the high cost of historical 

trauma. Kai Tiaki Nursing New Zealand, 24(8), 11-13. 

Marshall, L. (2018). Building collections. New Zealand Author, 313.

ORAL PRESENTATIONS
Barton, P. (2018, February). Ko te arewhana i roto i te rūma: 

Nursing and Māori health disparity: The elephant in the room. 

Presentation to the Regional Child and Adolescent Mental 

Health Team, Whangārei, New Zealand.

Barton, P. (2018, February 15). Ko te arewhana i roto i te rūma: 

Nursing and Māori health disparity: The elephant in the room. 

Presentation at The Nursing Showcase, Whangārei, New 

Zealand.

Barton, P. (2018, November). The NorthTec Māori Student Retention 

Strategy. Presentation at Te Tai Tokerau Primary Health Care 

Leadership Group, Kerikeri, New Zealand.

Briscoe, J. (2018, February 15). Strategies to facilitate employment 

uptake of Māori new graduate registered nurses. Presentation at 

The Nursing Showcase, Whangārei, New Zealand.

Carroll-Thom, L. (2018, February 15). The competencies of 

emotional intelligence. Presentation at The Nursing Showcase, 

Whangārei, New Zealand.

Clubb, A. (2018, February 15). Internationally qualified nurses’ 

experiences of how the New Zealand Registered Nurse 

Competency Assessment Programme enable transitions to 

cultural and clinical practice in New Zealand. Presentation at The 

Nursing Showcase, Whangārei, New Zealand.

Clubb, A. (2018, October). A proposal for the doctoral thesis on 

the experience of internationally qualified nurses’ transition to 

cultural and clinical practice in New Zealand. Presentation at 

National CAP Providers Forum, Dunedin, New Zealand.

Davison, J. (2018, September 13-14). Undergraduate nursing 

students’ preparation for suicide risk assessment.  Presentation 

at the Mental Health & Addictions Nurse Educators Forum 

2018, Auckland, New Zealand.

Henare, T. H. A. (2018, July 6-8). Tukuna kia Rere. Presentation at 

Rehua Marae, Christchurch, New Zealand.

Henare, T. H. A. (2018, August 10). Tukuna kia Rere. Presentation 

at NorthTec Staff Conference, Whangārei, New Zealand.

Lye, A. (2018, September 19). Improving our student experience: 

Applying “threshold concept and troublesome knowledge” in 

the classroom. Oral presentation at NorthTec, Whangārei, New 

Zealand.
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Mackay, B. (2018, July). Supporting skills development of NGRNs: 

Research outcomes.  Presentation to the Nursing and Midwifery 

Executive Leadership Team, Whangārei, New Zealand.

Marshall, L. (2018, February 8). Freelance editing. Workshop held at 

Stewart Island, New Zealand.

Marshall, L. (2018, September 9). Keeping the reader’s interest – 

the importance of place. Workshop at the Manawatu Writers’ 

Festival, Feilding, New Zealand.

Marshall, L. (2018, September 7). Keynote speaker, opening event. 

Manawatu Writers’ Festival, Feilding, New Zealand. 

Marshall, L. (2018, September 8). What freelance editors do. 

Workshop at the Manawatu Writers’ Festival, Feilding, New 

Zealand.

Morgan, D. K. J. (2018, February). Bream Head Conservation 

Trust 5-year operation plan. Presentation to the McLeod Bay 

Community, Whangārei, New Zealand.

 Morgan, D. K. J. (2018, September). Urban conservation in 

Whangārei. Presentation to the Northland branch of the 

Ornithological Society of New Zealand, Whangārei, New 

Zealand.

Morgan, J. (2018, October 3). Digital Arts. Presentation at the 

Education & Careers Speaker Series, Whangārei, New Zealand.

Scobie, N., & Mackay, B. (2018, March). Research into skill 

preparation of NGRNs. Presentation to the Nursing and 

Midwifery Executive Leadership Team, Whangārei, New 

Zealand.

Tatton, B. (2018). Nursing preceptorship. Presentation at Radius 

Arran Court Rest Home & Hospital, Auckland, New Zealand.

Williamson, Z., Briscoe, J., & Panov, M. (2018, February 15). 

Promoting the use of SOAPIE in practice: A collaborative research 

project. Presentation at The Nursing Showcase, Whangārei, 

New Zealand.

OTHER FORM OF ASSESSABLE OUTPUT
Bruce-Iri, P. (2018). Tai Tokerau Climate Change Project: 

Regenerative agriculture # 11 [Video file]. Retrieved from https://

northlandclimatechange.org/regenerative-agriculture-11/

Bruce-Iri, P. (2018, June 8-9). Te Tai Tokerau Climate Change 

Conference [Conference Convenor]. Whangārei, New Zealand. 

Clunie, L. (2018, August 1-September 9). Field notes – a creative 

symbiosis [Exhibition Co-convenor]. Geoff Wilson Gallery, 

Whangārei, New Zealand.

Davison, J. (2018). Journal of Clinical Nursing [Peer reviewer].

Henare, T. H. A. (2018, March 12-13, October 1-2). Te Awe phase 2 

project [Taumata Mareikura team member]. Tāmaki Paenga Hira 

Auckland War Memorial Museum, Auckland, New Zealand.

Henare, T. H. A. (2018). Rewiti Marae Tukutuku project [Project Co-

ordinator]. Rewiti Marae, Waimauku, New Zealand.

Marshall, L. (2018, September 9). Free to write [Chairperson]. 

Manawatu Writers’ Festival, Palmerston North, New Zealand.

Neeley, E. A. (2018, June 8-9). Grassroots leadership and climate 

change [Website publication]. Extended abstract published 

in https://northlandclimatechange.org/programme-day-two-

under-construction/

Smith, E. (2018, August 1-30). Field notes – a creative symbiosis 

[Exhibition Co-convenor]. Geoff Wilson Gallery, Whangārei, New 

Zealand.

REPORT
Barton, P. (2018, July). The Māori retention strategy NorthTec 

Nursing Department (Unpublished report). Whangārei, New 

Zealand: NorthTec.

Martinez, E., & Orams, M. B. (2018). Review of the management 

of the Monkey Mia Provisioning Programme, Western Australia: 

Confidential Report. Perth, Australia:  Department of 

Biodiversity, Conservation and Attractions.

Palmer, J., Stalmann, J., & Morgan, D. (2018). Does the National 

Pest Control Agency’s chew card survey protocol correlate with 

the Department of Conservation’s tracking tunnel survey protocol 

for rodents? (Unpublished report). Whangārei, New Zealand: 

NorthTec.

Scobie, N., Mackay, B., & Broodkorn, M. (2018, March). An 

exploratory study of the perceptions of registered nurses towards 

the work-readiness of new graduate registered nurses (NGRNs) 

(Unpublished research report). Whangārei, New Zealand: 

NorthTec. 

THESIS
Al-Sa’di, A. (2018). User interface guidelines for Table PC Arabic 

educational application (Doctoral dissertation). Auckland 

University of Technology, Auckland, New Zealand.

Pais, S. (2018). Design and evaluation of an ecosystem of existing 

mobile wellness apps for supporting treatment of Gestational 

Diabetes Mellitus (Doctoral thesis). Auckland University of 

Technology, Auckland, New Zealand.
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A collaborative research project has explored the perceptions of registered nurses  
towards the clinical skills of Northland-based nursing graduates, and will help 
further develop undergraduate nurse education in the region.

The NorthTec research project, carried out in conjunction with the Northland 
District Health Board, found that the majority of new graduate registered nurses 
entered the workforce as safe, competent practitioners who were also well 
equipped with general skills such as communication.

The research was carried out online, with 64 registered nurses from a variety of 
healthcare settings in Northland responding. These included nurses working for 
GP practices and iwi providers, as well as community-based nurses and those 
based in the region’s hospitals.

The research, An exploratory study of the perceptions of registered nurses 
towards the work-readiness of new graduate registered nurses, was carried out by 
Norma Scobie, NorthTec Principal Lecturer Nursing, Dr Bev MacKay, NorthTec’s 
Head of Nursing, and Margareth Broodkoorn, Northland DHB’s Director of 
Nursing and Midwifery.

It looked at perceptions of registered nurses around the cognitive, technical and 
non-technical skill sets of new registered nurse graduates when they entered 
the workforce. Skill groupings were: routine assessment, basic clinical skills, 
advanced clinical skills, medication administration, emergency procedures, 
communication, preparedness for practice and coping with the work environment.  

New graduates were not rated as highly for advanced technical skills. This is to be 
expected as many of these were setting specific and should be taught within the 
workplace in the first year of practice.

Dr MacKay said, “The overall findings were that we prepare new graduate nurses 
well and they are safe, competent practitioners when they start work. We found 

that they rate higher in soft skills like communication, and that more advanced 
technical skills were not rated so highly or were non-applicable to the healthcare 
setting they are working in. This is consistent with other literature on the subject.”

She said the study’s findings would be used to further develop the undergraduate 
nurse education curriculum at NorthTec. It would also inform actions across the 
region, to ensure a shared understanding in the workforce of what should be 
expected of a new nurse graduate, especially with regard to technical skills.

Dr MacKay said, “We cannot teach all skills that all nurses will need, as we need to 
prepare generalist nurses who can work in any clinical setting. We will be working 
closely with nurse leaders, employers and registered nurses across Northland to 
implement the recommendations from this research.”

Margareth Broodkoorn said, “This study provides a context by which we can 
understand what the expectations of the registered nurse workforce are of new 
graduates. It gives us an understanding that some of those expectations may be a 
bit higher than graduates can be expected to deliver on. We can use this to work 
with our preceptors and look at what we most need to focus on with new graduate 
nurses.”

Dr MacKay presented the results of the study at the 17th National Nurse 
Education Conference, held in Melbourne.

At the same conference, colleague Jeanette Briscoe, NorthTec Senior Nursing 
Lecturer, gave a presentation on supporting Māori new graduate registered 
nurses into employment, while Zoe Williamson, another NorthTec Senior Nursing 
Lecturer, presented a poster outlining an additional collaborative project with the 
Northland DHB on promoting the use of a documentation framework in medical 
nurses’ practice.

Research focuses on new graduate registered nurse skills

Margareth Broodkoorn, Northland DHB’s Director of Nursing and Midwifery, Norma Scobie, NorthTec Principal Lecturer Nursing and Dr Bev MacKay, NorthTec’s Head of Nursing
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Diploma in Applied Arts  
(Digital Arts)
Threy Russell Cameron
Ihipera Te Aroha Keefe
Leandro Santiago Morales-Delgado
Joe Henry Rua Paikea
Daniel Remeraz Stone

Diploma in Applied Arts  
(Visual Arts)
Courtenay Dale Harrop

Diploma in Applied Writing 
(Level 5)
Marino Moana Begman
Krystal Janie Rohini Byrne
Katherine Elizabeth Clark
Ayden Katene Dugmore
Gemma-Marie Brylee Te-Roti Goodwin
Douglas Perenara Johnston
Duncan Thomas Lee
Emma Jane Masson-Oakden
Stephanie Braxton Matich
Krystal Sara Mildenhall
Tamryn Power
Magan Szentesi
Phoenix Szentesi
Celia Marie Vick
Joshua Bruce Walker
Tammy Lauren Woodroff

Diploma in Applied Writing  
(Level 6)
Irene Patricia Karaitiana
Joanna Lucy Laird

Diploma in Advanced  
Applied Writing
Jonathan Arnold
Margaret Brosnahan
Hannah Joy Davis
Abigail Jocelyn Patricia Egden
Ella May Fleming
Ashlee Kayla Sturme
Alice Christel van Duuren

Diploma in Conservation and 
Environmental Management
Jennifer Faye Doidge
Tracey Anne Donald
Alexandria Nicole Going
Kexin Liu
Bevan Ramon Morgan
Megan Amy Vercoe

Diploma in Sport and Recreation
Daniel Roy Adams
Marcia Aperahama
Kadin Baker
Krystal Marie Currin
Jacom Viane Ward Donaldson
Trinity Justice Ripeka Edwards
Vinkal Gaur
Taylah Jade Jenkinson
Shania Jade Kennedy-Lowe
Jaimee Alice Lewin
Joshua Aiden McKegg
Sung Heum Og
John Paul Barry Ogden
Paul Andrew Scherf
Gwen Smith

New Zealand Diploma in Applied 
Science (Level 5)
Paras Bhagat
Palakpreet Kaur

New Zealand Diploma in Applied 
Science (Level 6)
Harsimran Kaur Muker
Amber-Rose Thelma Smith

New Zealand Diploma in 
Agribusiness Management  
(Level 5)
Shane Rodney Coutts
Joanne Hales
Leanna Marie Jay
Delwyn Marie McKenzie
Niall Grant McKenzie
Patricia Ann Rankin
Michelle Ruddell
Joanna Mary Shepherd

New Zealand Diploma in 
Environmental Management 
(Level 5)
Michaela Jaid Cochrane
Suzy De Jong
Janika Gnad
Satchet Bertrand Guilloux
Hana Jane Harris
Warren Arthur Horne
Tharini Nadeema Jayakody Jayakody 
Arachchige
Steven Eric Johnson
Samantha Joy McAulay
Rowan Kathleen Quedley
Ana Maree Searle
Liadan Avelaine Winters

New Zealand Diploma in 
Environmental Management 
(Level 6)
Yi-Pei Chung
Lei Dai
Courtney Roberta du Preez
Alsie Katherine Gray
Claire Heyns
Darlene Kaylani Storm Turner

New Zealand Diploma in Te Reo 
me Nga Tikanga (Level 5)
Heketia Luke Ahomiro
Jane Louise Aickin
Gladys Theresa Bennett
Tracey Te Awhi Veronica Bennett
Debra Star Brewer
Lynn Brown
Luciana Bush
Ari Beau Carrington
Anna Paulette Cecelia Carroll
Rebekah Alys Mary Clements
James Henare Clendon
Hana-Jane Conlon
Andrea Tenneale Cox
Hope Daniels
Merepaea Te Uira Dunn
Maraea Edmonds
Belinda Shona Edwards

GRADUATES 2018
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Leah Moewaka Faith Eruera
Gerald Christopher Andrew Graham
Neha Hoani Hakaraia
Shelley Anne Marie Heke
Patricia Catherine Heperi
Steven Allan Heta
Daryn Hohepa
Peter William Hughes
Mone Monica Julisi
Kasey-Lee Kaipo
Martin Kaipo
Malcolm Thomas Kendall
Reuben Paul Kirkwood
Natasha Mary Clare Lammer
Michael Davis Leuluai
Pare Moana Lucre
Amanda Kate McGlashan
Norman Wayne McKenzie
Rebecca Michelle Marama Meade
Keri Marie Milich
Andrea Mary Nicholson
Rohan Ana Packard
Danielle Shirley Parke
Renee Maraea Mata Poasa
Michael Pocklington
Damian John Powley
Mark David Ralston
Janna Wairaka Rolleston
Louise Joy Sadler
Eileen Shelford
Robert Wayne Small
Makarita Margaret Tito
Andrew Paul Tupuhi
Elizabeth Tupuhi
Lynne Marie Tutara
Patricia May Waetford
Ranginui Teresa Gale Walters
Teuwaina Ena Walters
Melinda Jean Webber
Maurice Gil-Son Wells
Nellie Natari Wilana Wetere
Philip John Wihongi
Gaylene Nanette Winter
Renee Emma-Rae Winter
Melanie Theresa Witana

Bachelor of Applied Arts 
(Digital)
Sophie Jennifer Bickers
Joshua Michael Bradshaw
Dinghua Cheng

Bachelor of Applied Arts 
(Visual)
Reghan Chase Anderson
Heather Jeanne Bell
Florence Brouwer
Guillaume Kimiora Chevolleau
Sandra Maxine Guest
Nimmy Santhosh
Carmen Louise Snelgar
Emma Snell
Yunfei Tao
Renee Kathleen Weatherall

Maunga Kura Toi - Bachelor of 
Māori Arts (Raranga)
Tui Lynette Te Paa

Maunga Kura Toi - Bachelor of 
Māori Arts (Rauangi)
Marjory Ann Paewhenua

Maunga Kura Toi - Bachelor of 
Māori Arts (Whakairo)
Anthony Dwain Dunn
Graham Clinton Nathan

Bachelor of Nursing
Lara Louise Adams
Raelene Suzan Andrews
Deborah Lavaune Antonio
April Leigh Archer
Kayla Jayne Bates
Kris Fennechieh Birch
Kiel Arnee Reti Boyd
Karin Ann Broughton
Holly Shona Bryan
Jacqueline Jane Busby
Daryl Ellen Cathro
Rebekah Sarah Irini Cooper
Samantha Talia Taina Davis-Cooper
Nicole Mary Dingwall
Tracey Marie Douglas
Maria Cecilia Eligado
Arias-Nides Cruz Escondo
Maia Alexandra Garry
Lesa Cheri Gibbon
Aleisha Renee Carla Gore
Alisha Rosalie Isobella Gray
Nora Hage
Elizabeth Mary Halvorson
Sarah Kelly Housham
Andrea Jane Huntley
Jithil Jacob
Jadranka Jos
Jintu Joy
Harpreet Kaur
Cherie Anne Kidd
Christian MacDonald
Toni Maree Mackey
Jennie-Lyn Valdez Magallanes
Samantha Janine Marshall
Victoria Jessica Marshall
Robyn Odette Martinovich
Deborah Merle Mason
Michelle Hannah Mason
Lidiane Aparecida Matos Dos Santos Jepsen
Mary-Rose Tupou ‘Alo’ I Ha’amea Muller
Toni Rachael Owen
Anoop Parameswaran Sobhana
Aroha Naomi Parker
Deveron Boyd Pearce
Freya Jasmine Puharich
Zara Jade Pyle
Manju Ravi
Kristine Maree Redwood
Keeley Alexandra Scurr
Mandy Rita Simpson

Michelle Ariana Tautari
Arlene Ternio
Charlene Joanna Bernadette Thomson
Manju Varghese
Glenys Anne Verhagen
Alicia Mae Waihi
Chelsea Lee Whitehead
Kyla Gene Williams
Brooke Marieke Zeilstra

Diploma in Information 
Systems
Parth Arora
Arshdeep
Rhythm Bajaj
Jagdeep Singh Bhullar
Sunny Chaudhary
Balreet Singh Dhaliwal
Vasu Dua
Japdeep Singh Gill
Rashandeep Kaur Gill
Parteek Singh Kahlon
Parminder Singh Khehra
Munish Kumar
Yujie Liang
Vaibhav Malhotra
Nehaben Jitendrakumar Patel
Peter
Harmandeep Singh Randhawa
Gourav Saini
Bhupinder Singh Sandhu
Karanjeet Singh Sandhu
Neil Bimalkumar Shah
Baneet Sharma
Varinder Sharma
Amanpreet Singh
Amritpal Singh
Bhagwan Singh
Harinder Singh
Harmandeep Singh
Jaskaran Singh
Jaydeep Singh
Lovedeep Singh
Palwinder Singh
Pavitar Singh

Diploma in Software 
Development
Joginder Arora
Hardik Yogeshkumar Chauhan
Vibhor Gupta
Harsimran Kaur
Sorav Palyal
Harinder Kumar Sharma
Mohit Sharma
Paramjeet Singh
Prabhjot Singh
Tejinder Singh
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New Zealand Diploma in 
Architectural Technology  
(Level 6)
Nikola Robyn Smith
Flurina Livia Larissa Suri
Elise Ure
Elayne Frances Windlebourne

New Zealand Institute of 
Management - Diploma in 
Management
Tracy Claire Blaauw
Nirmaljit Singh Gill
Mary Elizabeth Graham
Gursewak Singh Kang
Jason Tupati Mamea
Nitin
Gurpreet Singh
Harwinder Singh
Katie Ripeka Waiti

New Zealand Institute of 
Management - Diploma in 
Practice Management
(Health)
Rupen Chand
Donna Maree Howe

New Zealand Diploma in 
Business (Level 5) (Leadership 
and Management)
Avi Arora
Bhavyam Arora
Rakshanda Baniya
Ravneet Singh Bawa
Boota Singh Chahal
Parminder Singh Chouhan
Lovepreet Singh Jossan
Manpreet Kaur Pannu
Jugraj Singh
Manpreet Singh
Navjot Singh
Partap Singh
Rajpreet Singh
Ram Singh
Ravinder Singh
Robin Singh
Sukhvir Singh
Surinder Singh
Devanshu Sood
Abhinav Thakur
Schree Natasha Van Konynenburg

New Zealand Diploma in 
Business (Level 6)
Harraj Singh Arora
Vishal Bajaj
Daniel Becher-Tatnell

Ramjit Singh Dhaliwal
Maninder Singh Dhillon
Haley Chanel Finlayson
Arvinder Singh Gill
Lovepreet Singh Gill
Nirmaljit Singh Gill
Pardeep Kaler
Gursewak Singh Kang
Sachin Kumar
Ashwin Ashika Lal
Benjamin Heremiah Marsden
Nitin
Ajay Singh Sadiora
Manav Sehgal
Brijmohan Sharma
Daljit Singh
Gurbinder Singh
Gurlal Singh
Hardip Singh
Harwinder Singh
Kanwarpal Singh
Komalpreet Singh
Lovepreet Singh
Navdeep Singh
Navrajdeep Singh
Ramandeep Singh
Sehajpreet Singh
Varinder Singh
Yadwinder Singh
Joshua William

New Zealand Diploma in 
Construction (Level 6)
Jing Chen
Shuang Han
Yoshitha Teshan Haputhanthri Haputhanthrige
Kanishth
Yogesh Kumar
Yuling Ma
Karan Mankotia
Mehulkumar Dineshchandra Nayee
Vijay Veer Singh Shahi
Gagandeep Singh
Gurpreet Singh
Harpreet Singh
Sukhjinder Singh
Sukhpreet Singh
Anmol Wahi
Li Yuan
Kongzhi Zhu

New Zealand Diploma in Cookery 
(Advanced) (Level 5)
Raksmey Panha Ang
Anrong Deng
Kaiwen Deng
Shobin Francis

Chao Han
Kairui Huang
Jinyong Li
Yisi Li
Miner Lu
Xingqi Lu
Jinhao Shen
Yung-Yu Tien
Junwei Xiao
Kerui Yao
Weichi Zhu

New Zealand Diploma in 
Engineering (Civil)
Raymond Kevin Crawford
Tania Rae Dodds
Pavlo Gorduz
Cameron David Hales
Harrison James Hayes
Jason Norman Hows
Jody Patricia Kelly
Matthew Edgar Myburgh
Billy Tane O’Halloran
Ian Alfred Page
Jacques Jansen Smith

New Zealand Diploma in 
Software Development (Level 6)
Tarush Bajaj
Jatinderbir Singh Bhatti
Amritpal Singh Dhillon
Prabhjot Singh Dhillon
Dhruv Vinaybhai Giri
Arshdeep Kaur
Saurav Rana
Paarth Sharma
Akashdeep Singh
Gurwinder Singh
Jaskaranpreet Singh
Jugraj Singh
Manjot Singh
Navjot Singh
Prabhjot Singh
Rajanbir Singh

New Zealand Diploma in Web 
Development and Design  
(Level 5)
Anish Ansari
Ashish Singh Dangi
Avinash Girdharbhai Gevariya
Sahil Jain
Jhon Robin Jindani
Gaurav Kant
Nishant Katwal
Navpreet Kaur
Simratpal Kaur
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Shivdarshan Singh Khinchi
Sahil Mann
Dipan Nepal
Nisarg Sanjay Patel
Neel Arunkumar Prajapati
Anmol Sharma
Bunty Sharma
Sandeep Sharma
Vishnu Shukla
Gurmeet Singh Sidhu
Baljit Singh
Dilpreet Singh
Gurjinder Singh
Harmanjeet Singh
Kamaljeet Singh
Simranjit Singh
Vishal Singh
Manish Uprety
Kurul Ashokkumar Vyas
Maharshi Ravindrakumar Zanje

Graduate Diploma in Business 
Abhinav
Anjli
Dolly Arora
Simarjeet Singh Batth
Sagar Gaire
Parth Gandhi
Bipana Shahi Gurung
Sukhpreet Kaur
Hoi Ling Koo (with Merit)
Hui Luo
Asheer Dulip Madhasekara
Mayank
Xuan Meng
Iqbal Singh Nayyar
Pussella Gamaethi Premasiri
Bhawish Rathore
Baljeet Singh Sandhu
Shaveta
Honghao Shi
Gagandeep Singh
Parmjeet Singh
Narayana Sri Harsha Susarla
Rincy Raphel Thalakkottoor
Yomesha Nayanthi Wagaarachchi Vitharum 
Karawana Wagaarachchige
Zibo Wang
Zefei Yang
Ping Zhang
Rong Zhu

Graduate Diploma in Business 
(Accounting)
Sushil Kumar Yadav

Graduate Diploma in Business 
(Management)
Lalit Attwal

Vinjalben Sagar Bhoi
Prajot Rajendra Borade
Kartik Dewan
Sukhwinder Singh Dhamrait
Nandini
Hemanshu Saddi
Mrinal Sharma (with Distinction)
Manoj Kumar Shukla
Avtar Singh
Gurdeep Singh
Kaila Marie Verdadero (with Merit)

Graduate Diploma in Business 
Information Systems
Gresan Adique (with Distinction)
Pratish Bansal
Kunal Jayeshkumar Desai
Jeff Geo James 
Ivin Isac
Vivek Jindal
Jasmine Kaur
Amjad Yusuf Khan
Vikas Kumar
Athul Muralidharen
Abhijeet Iranna Padalwar (with Merit)
Payal Sudhir Palande
Devesh Ajitkumar Patel
Niti Rani
Pooja Sharma
Simran Jit Singh
Rahul Bhagwat Waghmare

Graduate Diploma in 
Information Technology
Wei Gao
Amandeep Kaur
Manpreet Kaur
Rushikesh Dadasaheb Khilare
Kiran
Abraham Francis Mariadossashirvadam
Ankitkumar Hasmukhbhai Patel
Heming Mahendrabhai Patel
Mirav Pravinbhai Patel
Priyesh Kumar Patel
Vishwaskumar Hitendrabhai Patel
Nirali Jagdishbhai Rana
Anoop Singh
Suraj Thorat (with Merit)
Xiaohua Yu

Graduate Diploma in Project 
Management
Puneet Bansal
Stephanie Echavez (with Distinction)
Susheel Choudary Gogineni
Karen Mae Montilla
Kevin Shashibhusan Patel
Krishna Pathak (with Merit)
Dilbhag Singh

Vijay Singh
Mohit Solanki

Graduate Diploma in Sales and 
Marketing
Pranati Sanjay Ankalkote
Prabhjot Singh Jassar
Shivam Khajuria
Harmanbir Singh Randhawa
Davinder Singh
Karan Preet Singh
Sonia

Bachelor of Applied 
Management 
Zirui Cheng
Saiyam Khanna
Yang Liu
Yijia Yuan
Manyu Zhang

Bachelor of Applied 
Management (Accounting)
Gabriel Meng Yi Cheong
Leanne Gay Emtage
Katelyn Dawn Lorraine George
Logan Mark Miller
Siyu Shen (with Merit)

Bachelor of Applied 
Management (Business 
Transformation and Change)
Katherine Jesse Tasker (with Merit)

Bachelor of Applied 
Management (Project 
Management)
Cianne Lauren du Preez
Xiaolin Li

Bachelor of Applied 
Management 
(Double Major in Project 
Management and Business 
Transformation and Change)
Mariah Angelo Mane (with Distinction)

Bachelor of Applied Social 
Service (Social Work)
Sharni Lee Heeni Biddle
Ngarimu Hei Hei
Remya Kariyapurayidom Thomas
Margaret Denise Morgan
Julianne Marie Nightingale
Molly Morehu Rapana
Ethan Bradley Rudolph
Ngametua Junior Terei
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Professional Services

Bankers
Bank of New Zealand

Cnr. Bank Street and Rust Avenue
PO Box 644

Whangārei
Telephone 09 438 4199

Solicitors
Thomson Wilson
Rathbone Street

PO Box 1042
Whangārei

Telephone 09 438 4039

Statutory Auditors
Audit New Zealand

Mana Arotake Aotearoa
Level 6

280 Queen Street
Private Box 1165

Auckland 1140
Telephone 09 373 5457




